## Chapman & Hall/CRC Handbooks of Modern Statistical Methods

# Longitudinal Data Analysis

Edited by

Garrett Fitzmaurice Marie Davidian Geert Verbeke Geert Molenberghs



CRC Press is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an **informa** business A CHAPMAN & HALL BOOK Chapman & Hall/CRC Taylor & Francis Group 6000 Broken Sound Parkway NW, Suite 300 Boca Raton, FL 33487-2742

© 2009 by Taylor & Francis Group, LLC Chapman & Hall/CRC is an imprint of Taylor & Francis Group, an Informa business

No claim to original U.S. Government works Printed in the United States of America on acid-free paper 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

International Standard Book Number-13: 978-1-58488-658-7 (Hardcover)

This book contains information obtained from authentic and highly regarded sources. Reasonable efforts have been made to publish reliable data and information, but the author and publisher cannot assume responsibility for the validity of all materials or the consequences of their use. The authors and publishers have attempted to trace the copyright holders of all material reproduced in this publication and apologize to copyright holders if permission to publish in this form has not been obtained. If any copyright material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so we may rectify in any future reprint.

Except as permitted under U.S. Copyright Law, no part of this book may be reprinted, reproduced, transmitted, or utilized in any form by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying, microfilming, and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without written permission from the publishers.

For permission to photocopy or use material electronically from this work, please access www.copyright.com (http:// www.copyright.com/) or contact the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. (CCC), 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, 978-750-8400. CCC is a not-for-profit organization that provides licenses and registration for a variety of users. For organizations that have been granted a photocopy license by the CCC, a separate system of payment has been arranged.

**Trademark Notice:** Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks, and are used only for identification and explanation without intent to infringe.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Longitudinal data analysis / editors, Garrett Fitzmaurice ... [et al.].
p. cm. -- (Chapman and Hall/CRC series of handbooks of modern statistical methods)
Includes bibliographical references and index.
ISBN 978-1-58488-658-7 (hardback : alk. paper)
1. Longitudinal method. 2. Multivariate analysis. 3. Regression analysis. I. Fitzmaurice, Garrett M., 1962- II. Title. III. Series.

QA278.L66 2008 519.5--dc22

2008020681

Visit the Taylor & Francis Web site at http://www.taylorandfrancis.com

and the CRC Press Web site at http://www.crcpress.com

#### CHAPTER 23

### Estimation of the causal effects of time-varying exposures

James M. Robins and Miguel A. Hernán

#### Contents

23.1	Introduction									
23.2	Fixed e	Fixed exposures								
23.3	Time-varying exposures									
	23.3.1 Non-dynamic regimes									
	23.3.2 Marginal structural models									
	23.3.3 Dynamic regimes									
23.4	Analysis of a hypothetical study									
	23.4.1 The study									
	23.4.2	A priori causal assumptions	569							
	23.4.3	Testing our causal assumptions	570							
	23.4.4	Determining which dotted arrows are present								
		23.4.4.1 A fixed exposure analysis at time 1	570							
		23.4.4.2 Joint effects, direct effects, and g-methods	571							
		23.4.4.3 G-formula	571							
	23.4.5	.5 Why standard methods fail								
	23.4.6	FIPTW and marginal structural models								
	23.4.7 Methods for dynamic regimes									
		23.4.7.1 G-formula	576							
		23.4.7.2 IPTW	576							
		23.4.7.3 G-estimation	577							
23.5	G-estimation in practice and the choice among g-methods									
	23.5.1	.1 G-estimation of unsaturated structural nested mean models								
	23.5.2	Monte Carlo estimation of $E(Y_a)$ after g-estimation of an SNMM								
	23.5.3	Time-varving instrumental variables and g-estimation								
	23.5.4	Dynamic and general SNMMs and MSMs	584							
		23.5.4.1 Dynamic and general MSMs	585							
		23.5.4.2 General SNMMs and optimal regime SNMMs	587							
23.6	Streng	ths and weaknesses	592							
23.7	Appen	dix: Causal directed acyclic graphs	593							
Ackno	wledgm	ents	597							
Refere	ences		597							

#### 23.1 Introduction

In this chapter we describe methods for the estimation of the causal effect of a timevarying exposure on an outcome of interest from longitudinal data collected in an observational study. The terms "exposure" and "treatment" will be used synonymously and interchangeably. We assume a fixed study population, that is, a closed cohort with a welldefined, known start of follow-up date for each subject. Time will refer to time since start of follow-up, which we also refer to as time since baseline. We only consider estimation of the effect of exposures occurring at or after the start of follow-up because the estimation of the effects of pre-baseline exposures is not possible without making strong, untestable assumptions. We refer to the exposure received at start of follow-up as the baseline exposure. Baseline covariates refer to covariates, including pre-baseline exposure, that occur prior to the baseline exposure. We classify exposures as either fixed or time-varying.

We define an exposure to be fixed if every subject's baseline exposure level determines the subject's exposure level at all later times. Exposures can be fixed because they only occur at the start of follow-up (e.g., a bomb explosion, a one-dose vaccine, a surgical intervention), because they do not change over time (e.g., genotype), or because they evolve over time in a deterministic way (e.g., time since baseline exposure).

Any exposure that is not fixed is said to be time-varying. Some examples of time-varying exposures are a subject's smoking status, a drug whose dose is readjusted according to the patient's clinical response, a surgical intervention that is administered to different study patients at different times from start of follow-up, and the phenotypic expression (say, mRNA level) of a genotype that responds to changing environmental factors.

We shall need to consider time-dependent confounders as well as time-varying exposures. For present purposes, one may consider a time-varying covariate to be a time-dependent confounder if a post-baseline value of the covariate is an independent predictor of (i.e., a risk factor for) both subsequent exposure and the outcome within strata jointly determined by baseline covariates and prior exposure. A more precise definition is given in Section 23.3. For a fixed exposure, time-dependent confounding is absent because baseline exposure fully determines later exposure. As a consequence, in the absence of confounding by unmeasured baseline covariates or model misspecification, conventional methods to adjust for confounding by baseline covariates (e.g., stratification, matching, and/or regression) deliver consistent estimators of the causal effect of a fixed exposure. In contrast, when interest focuses on the causal effect of a time-varying exposure on an outcome, even when confounding by unmeasured factors and model misspecification are both absent, conventional analytic methods may be biased and result in estimates of effect that may fail to have a causal interpretation, regardless of whether or not one adjusts for the time-dependent confounders in the analysis (Robins 1986; Hernán, Hernández-Díaz, and Robins, 2004). In fact, if (i) time-dependent confounding is present, and (ii) within strata of the baseline covariates, baseline exposure predicts the subsequent evolution of the time-dependent confounders, then conventional analytic methods can be biased and falsely find an exposure effect even under the sharp null hypothesis of no net, direct, or indirect effect of exposure on the outcome of any subject (see Section 23.4).

Nearly all exposures of epidemiologic interest are time-varying. However, because of the greater complexity of analytic methods that appropriately control for time-dependent confounding, introductory treatments of causal inference often consider only the case of fixed exposures.

This chapter provides an introduction to causal inference for time-varying exposures in the presence of time-dependent confounding. We will discuss three different methods to estimate the effect of time-varying exposures: the g-computation algorithm formula (the "g-formula"), inverse probability of treatment weighting (IPTW) of marginal structural models (MSMs), and g-estimation of structural nested models (SNMs). We refer to the collection of these methods as "g-methods." If we used only completely saturated (i.e., nonparametric) models, all three methods would give identical estimates of the effect of treatment. However, in realistic longitudinal studies, the data are sparse and high-dimensional. Therefore, possibly misspecified, non-saturated models must be used. As a consequence, the

#### FIXED EXPOSURES

three methods can provide different estimates. The method of choice will then depend both on the causal contrast of primary substantive interest and on the method's robustness to model misspecification (see Section 23.5).

The chapter is organized as follows. First, we review causal inference with fixed exposures. Second, we generalize to time-varying exposures. Third, we analyze a simple hypothetical study of a time-varying exposure using saturated models to illustrate both the bias of conventional analytic methods and the validity of and agreement between the three g-methods. Fourth, we introduce general MSMs and SNMs in order to estimate optimal dynamic treatment regimes. Finally, we examine the strengths and weaknesses of each of our three methods in the analysis of realistic study data. In the interest of brevity, we limit ourselves to the case where (i) covariate and exposure data are collected at fixed equal-spaced intervals (e.g., at weekly clinic visits); (ii) censoring, missed visits, and measurement error are absent; (iii) the outcome is a univariate continuous random variable Y measured at end of follow-up; and (iv) there is no unmeasured confounding. Extensions to settings in which (i) through (iv) are violated can be found in prior work by Robins and collaborators. Violations of (i) are discussed in Robins (1997a, 1998); of (ii) in Robins, Rotnitzky, and Zhao (1995), Robins (2003), and van der Laan and Robins (2003); of (iii) in Robins (1994, 1997a) and Hernán, Brumback, and Robins (2001, 2002); and of (iv) in Robins, Rotnitzky, and Scharfstein (1999) and Brumback et al. (2004).

For consistency with the literature and ease of notation, in this chapter vectors are *not* denoted by boldface type.

#### 23.2 Fixed exposures

We observe on each of N study subjects a fixed, dichotomous exposure A that can take values 0 (unexposed) or 1 (exposed); an outcome Y measured at the end of follow-up; and a vector L of baseline covariates. Capital letters such as Y or A will refer to random variables, that is, variables that can take on different values for different study subjects. Small letters such as y and a refer to the possible values of Y and A. Thus, the random variable A can take on the two values a = 1 or a = 0. Let  $Y_a$  denote the counterfactual or potential outcome for a given subject under exposure level a. For a dichotomous A we have two counterfactual variables  $Y_{a=1}$  and  $Y_{a=0}$ . For example, for a subject whose outcome would be 3 under exposure and 1 under non-exposure, we would write  $Y_{a=1} = 3$  and  $Y_{a=0} = 1$  and  $Y_{a=1} - Y_{a=0} = 2$ . If, in the actual study, this subject were exposed, then his observed Y would be 3. That is,  $Y_a$  is the random variable representing the outcome Y that would be observed for a given subject were he or she to experience exposure level a. Furthermore, a subject's observed outcome Y is the counterfactual outcome  $Y_a$  corresponding to the treatment A = a that the subject actually received. Implicit in our definition of a potential outcome is the assumption that a given subject's response is not affected by other subjects' treatment. This assumption cannot always be taken for granted. For example, it often fails in vaccine efficacy trials conducted within a single city because the vaccine exposure of other subjects can affect the outcome (infection status) of an unvaccinated subject through the mechanism of herd immunity. Standard statistical summaries of uncertainty due to sampling variability (e.g., a confidence interval for a proportion) only have meaning if we assume the N study subjects have been randomly sampled from a large source population of size M, such that N/Mis very small. Because we plan to discuss sampling variability, we make this assumption, although we recognize that the assumed source population is ill defined, even hypothetical. Probability statements and expected values will refer to proportions and averages in the source population.

The contrast  $Y_{a=1} - Y_{a=0}$  is said to be the individual causal effect of exposure on a subject. The average or mean causal effect in the population is then  $E(Y_{a=1} - Y_{a=0}) =$ 

 $E(Y_{a=1}) - E(Y_{a=0})$ . We say that the exposure A has a causal effect (protective or harmful) on the mean of the outcome Y if  $E(Y_{a=1}) - E(Y_{a=0}) \neq 0$ . When Y is a dichotomous outcome variable, then the mean of  $Y_a$  equals the risk of  $Y_a$ , that is,  $E(Y_a) = \Pr(Y_a = 1)$ , and we refer to  $E(Y_{a=1}) - E(Y_{a=0})$ ,  $E(Y_{a=1})/E(Y_{a=0})$ , and

$$\frac{E(Y_{a=1})/\{1 - E(Y_{a=1})\}}{E(Y_{a=0})/\{1 - E(Y_{a=0})\}}$$

as the causal risk difference, causal risk ratio, and causal odds ratio, respectively. Some equivalent statements that denote an average causal effect are: the causal risk difference differs from 0, the causal risk ratio differs from 1, and the causal odds ratio differs from 1.

We now provide conditions, which we refer to as identifiability conditions, under which it is possible to obtain, from observational data, consistent estimators of counterfactual quantities such as  $E(Y_a)$  and thus the causal risk difference and the causal risk and odds ratio for binary Y. First, we define some notation. For any random variables,  $B \amalg C|L = l$ means B and C are statistically independent within the stratum of subjects in the source population with L = l. Thus, if B and C are dichotomous,  $B \amalg C|L = l$  says the B-Codds ratio is 1 in the *l*-stratum-specific  $2 \times 2$  table of B versus C.  $B \amalg C|L$  means B and C are statistically independent in every stratum of L. Thus, if L takes on four possible values,  $B \amalg C|L$  implies that the four *l*-stratum-specific odds ratios are all 1. The three identifiability conditions are (Rosenbaum and Rubin, 1983):

- 1. Consistency. If A = a for a given subject, then  $Y_a = Y$  for that subject.
- 2. Conditional exchangeability or, equivalently, no unmeasured confounding given data on baseline covariates L, that is,

 $Y_a \amalg A | L = l$  for each possible value a of A and l of L.

3. Positivity. If  $f_L(l) \neq 0$ , then  $f_{A|L}(a|l) > 0$  for all a, where  $f_L(l) = \Pr(L = l)$  is the population marginal probability that L takes the value l, and  $f_{A|L}(a|l) = \Pr(A = a|L = l)$  is the conditional probability that A takes the value a among subjects in the population with L equal to l. (The above assumes L and A are discrete variables. If L and/or A were continuous variables, we would interpret  $f_L(l)$  and/or  $f_{A|L}(a|l)$  as the marginal density of L and/or the conditional density of A given L, and drop  $\Pr(L = l)$  and/or  $\Pr(A = a|L = l)$  from the definition of positivity.)

These three conditions generally hold in an ideal two-armed randomized experiment with full compliance. Consistency states that, for a subject who was exposed (i.e., A = 1), her potential outcome  $Y_{a=1}$  is equal to her observed outcome Y and thus is known (although her outcome  $Y_{a=0}$  remains unknown). Analogously, for an unexposed subject (i.e., A = 0), her potential outcome  $Y_{a=0}$  would equal her observed outcome Y, but  $Y_{a=1}$  would remain unknown. Positivity means that the exposure was not deterministically allocated within any level l of the covariates L. That is, not all source population subjects with a given value l of L were assigned to be exposed or unexposed. Note that, even under positivity, all study subjects with L = l could, by chance, be exposed because the study population is a small sample of the source population.

Before explaining conditional exchangeability, we discuss unconditional exchangeability. Unconditional or marginal exchangeability of the exposed and unexposed subgroups of the source population, written as  $Y_{a=1} \amalg A$  and  $Y_{a=0} \amalg A$ , implies that the exposed, had they been unexposed, would have experienced the same distribution of outcomes as the unexposed did. Exchangeability also implies that the previous sentence holds true if one swaps the words "exposed" and "unexposed". Unconditional randomization ensures unconditional exchangeability because the distributions of risk factors in the exposed and unexposed groups are guaranteed to be the same. Conditional exchangeability only requires that exchangeability



Figure 23.1 DAGs for fixed exposure scenarios.

is achieved within levels of the measured variables in L. For example, conditional — but not unconditional — exchangeability would hold in a randomized experiment in which (i) exposure was randomly assigned within levels l of a baseline covariate L that is an independent risk factor for Y, and (ii) the randomization probabilities Pr(A = 1|L = l) vary with l.

Unconditional exchangeability and conditional exchangeability can be translated into the language of causal directed acyclic graphs or DAGs (Spirtes, Glymour, and Scheines, 1993; Pearl, 1995). Section 23.7 contains the requisite background material on the representation of counterfactual causal models by causal DAGs. Consider the three causal DAGs of Figure 23.1 (Robins, Hernán, and Brumback, 2000), in which L and U represent vectors of measured and unmeasured baseline causes of Y, respectively. The causal DAG in Figure 23.1a can represent a randomized experiment in which each subject is randomized to exposure with the same probability  $\Pr(A=1)$ . Therefore, the conditional probability of exposure does not depend on L or U, that is,  $\Pr(A = 1 | L = l, U = u) = \Pr(A = 1)$ . We then say that there is no confounding by measured variables L or unmeasured variables U. Equivalently, the exposed and the unexposed are unconditionally exchangeable (i.e.,  $Y_a \amalg A$ ) because the exposure A and the outcome Y do not share any common causes. When unconditional exchangeability holds, association is causation. That is, the mean outcome had, contrary to fact, all study subjects been exposed to level a (i.e.,  $E(Y_a)$ ), equals the mean E(Y|A = a) among the subset of the study population actually treated with a. Hence, for binary Y, the crude risk difference E(Y|A=1) - E(Y|A=0) is the causal risk difference  $E(Y_{a=1}) - E(Y_{a=0})$ , so consistent estimation of the average causal effect is possible, even without data on L.

The causal DAG in Figure 23.1b can represent a randomized experiment in which each subject is randomized to exposure with probability Pr(A = 1|L = l) that depends on the subject's value of L but not on U, that is, Pr(A = 1|L = l, U = u) = Pr(A = 1|L = l). We then say that there is confounding but the measured covariates are sufficient to adjust for it, so there is no unmeasured confounding. Equivalently, the exposed and the unexposed are conditionally exchangeable given L because, even though the exposure A and the outcome Y share some common causes U, the non-causal association between exposure and outcome can be blocked by conditioning on the measured covariates L. In this setting, marginal association is not causation, that is,  $E(Y_a) \neq E(Y|A = a)$ . However, within a stratum l of L, association is causation,  $E(Y_a|L = l) = E(Y|A = a, L = l)$ . Furthermore, by using data on L,  $E(Y_a)$  can still be consistently estimated.

The causal DAG in Figure 23.1c represents a study in which the conditional probability of exposure Pr(A = 1|L = l, U = u) depends on the unmeasured variables U as well as the

measured variables L and thus cannot possibly represent a randomized experiment. We say that there is unmeasured confounding. Equivalently, the exposed and the unexposed are not conditionally exchangeable given L because we cannot block all non-causal associations between exposure and outcome by conditioning on the measured covariates L. In this setting, neither  $E(Y_a|L = l)$  nor  $E(Y_a)$  can be consistently estimated, at least without further strong assumptions.

When the (three) identifiability conditions hold, one can use any of the three analytic methods discussed below — g-formula, inverse probability weighting (see Chapter 20), or g-estimation — to consistently estimate  $E(Y_a)$ . We first describe the g-formula and IPTW. A description of SNMs will be deferred to Section 23.4.

For a given value a of a fixed exposure A and vector L of baseline covariates, the g-formula (based on covariates L) for  $E(Y_a)$  is defined to be the weighted sum of the *l*-stratum-specific means of Y among those exposed to level a in the population with weights equal to the frequency of the L strata. That is,

$$\sum_{l} E(Y|A=a, L=l) \operatorname{Pr}(L=l),$$

where the sum is over all values l of L in the population. Epidemiologists refer to the g-formula for  $E(Y_{a=1})$  as the standardized mean of Y in the exposed (A = 1). Note that the g-formula depends on the distribution in the population of the observed variables (A, L, Y). In practice, this distribution will be estimated from the study data.

When L takes values on a continuous scale, then the sum is replaced by an integral, and the g-formula becomes

$$\int E(Y|A=a, L=l) \, dF_L(l).$$

The IPTW formulae for  $E(Y_{a=1})$  and  $E(Y_{a=0})$  based on L are the mean of Y among the exposed (A = 1) and unexposed (A = 0), respectively, in a pseudo-population constructed by weighting each subject in the population by their subject-specific inverse probability of treatment weight

$$SW = \frac{f(A)}{f(A|L)},$$

where f(A) and f(A|L) are the probability densities  $f_A(a)$  and  $f_{A|L}(a|l)$  evaluated at the subject's data A, and A and L, respectively. In a randomized experiment, f(A|L) is known by design. In an observational study, it must be estimated from the study data. Consider a subject with A = 0 and L equal to a particular value  $l^*$ , say. Suppose that two thirds of the population with  $L = l^*$  but one third of the total population is exposed. Then, although in the true population each subject counts equally, in the pseudo-population our subject has weight 2 and thus counts as two subjects since  $f(A) = \Pr(A = 0) = 1 - 1/3 = 2/3$ , f(A|L) = 1 - 2/3 = 1/3, and SW = 2. In contrast, a second subject with A = 1 and  $L = l^*$  has SW = (1/3)/(2/3) = 1/2 and so only counts as one half of a person.

We refer to the subject-specific SW as stabilized weights and to the pseudo-population created by these weights as a stabilized pseudo-population. In fact, as shown in the next paragraph, the IPTW formula for  $E(Y_a)$  does not actually depend on the numerator of SW. Thus, we could alternatively create an unstabilized pseudo-population by weighting each subject by their unstabilized weight

$$W = \frac{1}{f(A|L)}.$$

However, as discussed in later sections, there are other settings in which stabilized or unstabilized weights cannot be used interchangeably.

#### FIXED EXPOSURES

Mathematically, the respective IPTW formulae for  $E(Y_a)$  in the stabilized and unstabilized populations are

$$\begin{split} E\left\{\frac{I(A=a)f(A)}{f(A|L)}Y\right\} \middle/ E\left\{\frac{I(A=a)F(A)}{f(A|L)}\right\} \\ E\left\{\frac{I(A=a)}{f(A|L)}Y\right\} \middle/ E\left\{\frac{I(A=a)}{f(A|L)}\right\}, \end{split}$$

as

and

$$E\left\{N\frac{I(A=a)f(A)}{f(A|L)}\right\} \quad \text{and} \quad E\left\{N\frac{I(A=a)}{f(A|L)}\right\}$$

are the numbers of subjects in the stabilized and unstabilized pseudo-populations with A = a, and

$$E\left\{N\frac{I(A=a)f(A)}{f(A|L)}Y\right\} \quad \text{and} \quad E\left\{N\frac{I(A=a)}{f(A|L)}Y\right\}$$

are the sums of their Y values. Here,  $I(\cdot)$  is the indicator function such that I(B) = 1 if B is true, and I(B) = 0 otherwise. Hernán and Robins (2006a) discuss the mathematical equivalence between the g-formula/standardization and IPTW (based on either stabilized or unstabilized weights) for fixed exposures under positivity. This equivalence extends to time-varying exposures as discussed in Section 23.3. The equivalence for fixed exposures is based on the mathematical identities

$$E\left\{\frac{I(A=a)f(A)}{f(A|L)}Y\right\} \Big/ E\left\{\frac{I(A=a)f(A)}{f(A|L)}\right\} = E\left\{\frac{I(A=a)}{f(A|L)}Y\right\} \Big/ E\left\{\frac{I(A=a)}{f(A|L)}\right\}$$
$$= \int E(Y|A=a, L=l) \, dF_L(l).$$

When exposure is unconditionally randomized (Figure 23.1a), both the g-formula and the IPTW formula for  $E(Y_a)$  are equal to the unadjusted (i.e., crude) mean E(Y|A = a) of Y among those with exposure level a in the population because the exposure A and the covariate L are independent, which implies F(l) = F(l|a) in the g-formula, and f(A|L) = f(A) for IPTW.

On the other hand, when the randomization is conditional on L (Figure 23.1b), then the average causal effect differs from the crude risk difference E(Y|A=1) - E(Y|A=0), and data on L are needed to consistently estimate  $E(Y_a)$ . The g-formula estimates  $E(Y_a)$ by effectively simulating the joint distribution of the variables L, A, and Y that would have been observed in a hypothetical study in which every subject received exposure a. The IPTW method effectively simulates the data that would have been observed had, contrary to fact, exposure been unconditionally randomized. Specifically, both stabilized and unstabilized IPTW create pseudo-populations in which (i) the mean of  $Y_a$  is identical to that in the actual study population but (ii) the exposure A is independent of L so that, if the causal graph in Figure 23.1b holds in the actual population, the causal graph in Figure 23.1a with no arrow from L to A will hold in the pseudo-population. The only difference between stabilized and unstabilized IPTW is that, in the unstabilized pseudopopulation, Pr(A = 1) = 1/2, while in the stabilized pseudo-population, Pr(A = 1) is as in the actual population. Thus,  $E(Y_a)$  in the actual population is  $E_{ps}(Y|A = a)$ , where the subscript ps is to remind us that we are taking the average of Y among subjects with A = a in either pseudo-population. For example, suppose in the actual population there are three exposed subjects with SW equal to 1/3, 2, 1/2 and Y equal to 3, 6, 4, respectively. Then

$$E(Y_a) = E_{ps}(Y|A=1) = \frac{3 \times 1/3 + 6 \times 2 + 4 \times 1/2}{1/3 + 2 + 1/2} = 5.3$$

while

$$E(Y|A=1) = \frac{3 \times 1 + 6 \times 1 + 4 \times 1}{3} = 4.$$

In summary, when the three identifiability conditions hold, the average causal effect  $E(Y_{a=1}) - E(Y_{a=0})$  in the population is the crude risk difference  $E_{ps}(Y|A=1) - E_{ps}(Y|A=0)$  in the pseudo-population.

What about observational studies? Imagine for a moment that the three identifiability conditions — consistency, conditional exchangeability, positivity — are met in a particular observational study. Then there is no conceptual difference between such an observational study and a randomized experiment. Taken together, the three conditions imply that the observational study can be conceptualized as a randomized experiment and hence that the g-formula, IPTW, or g-estimation can also be used to estimate counterfactual quantities like  $E(Y_a)$  from the observational data. A difference between randomized experiments and observational studies is that the conditional probability of exposure is not known in the latter and thus needs to be estimated from the data. We discuss this issue in detail in the next section.

The major weakness of observational studies is that, unlike in randomized experiments with full compliance, the three identifiability conditions are not guaranteed by design. Positivity may not hold if subjects with certain baseline characteristics are always exposed (or unexposed) because of prevailing treatment practices in the community. In that case, subjects with those baseline characteristics are often excluded from the study population for purposes of causal inference. Conditional exchangeability will not hold if the exposed and the unexposed differ with respect to unmeasured risk factors as in Figure 23.1(c), that is, if there is unmeasured confounding. Unfortunately, the presence of conditional exchangeability cannot be empirically tested. Even consistency cannot always be taken for granted in observational studies because the counterfactual outcomes themselves are sometimes not well defined, which renders causal inferences ambiguous (Robins and Greenland, 2000; Hernán, 2005). Thus, in observational studies, an investigator who assumes that these conditions hold may be mistaken; hence, causal inference from observational data is a risky business. When the consistency and conditional exchangeability conditions fail to hold, the IPTW and g-formula for  $E(Y_a)$  based on L are still well defined and can be estimated from the observed data; however, the formulae no longer equal  $E(Y_a)$  and thus do not have the causal interpretation as the mean of Y had all subjects received treatment a. When positivity fails to hold for treatment level a, the IPTW formula remains well defined but fails to equal  $E(Y_a)$ , while the g-formula is undefined (Hernán and Robins, 2006a).

In summary, causal inference from observational data relies on the strong assumption that the observational study can be likened to a randomized experiment with randomization probabilities that depend on the measured covariates. Often this assumption is not explicit. Although investigators cannot prove that the observational-randomized analogy is 100% correct for any particular study, they can use their subject-matter knowledge to collect data on many relevant covariates and hope to increase the likelihood that the analogy is approximately correct. We next describe how to conceptualize observational studies as randomized experiments when the exposure changes over time.

#### 23.3 Time-varying exposures

To develop methods for the estimation of the causal effects of time-varying exposures, we need to generalize the definition of causal effect and the three identifiability conditions of the previous section. For simplicity, we consider a study of the effect of a time-dependent dichotomous exposure A(t) on a continuous outcome Y measured at end of follow-up at time K+1 from study entry. (A(t) is identical to  $A_t$  used in Chapter 20 and Chapter 22.) Subjects change exposure only at weekly clinic visits, so A(t) is recorded at fixed times  $t = 0, 1, \ldots, K$ , in weeks from baseline. We use overbars to denote history; thus, the exposure history through

time (i.e., week) t is  $\overline{A}(t) = \{A(0), A(1), \dots, A(t)\}$ . The possible change in exposure at week t occurs after data are available on the history  $\overline{L}(t) = \{L(0), L(1), \dots, L(t)\}$  of a vector of possibly time-dependent covariates. We denote a subject's total exposure and covariate history by  $\overline{A} = \overline{A}(K)$  and  $\overline{L} = \overline{L}(K)$ .

#### 23.3.1 Non-dynamic regimes

To describe causal contrasts for time-varying exposures, we first need to define exposure regimes or plans. For simplicity, we temporarily restrict our description to static (non-dynamic) treatment regimes  $\overline{a} = \{a(0), a(1), \ldots, a(K)\}$ , where a(t) is 1 if the regime specifies that the subject is to be exposed at time t, and 0 otherwise; and  $\overline{a}(t)$  represents exposure history under regime  $\overline{a}$  through week t. Note that  $\overline{a}(K) = \overline{a}$ . Associated with each of the  $2^K$  regimes  $\overline{a}$  is the subject's counterfactual outcome  $Y_{\overline{a}}$  under exposure regime  $\overline{a}$ . Some examples of regimes  $\overline{a}$  are continuous exposure  $\{1, 1, \ldots, 1\}$ , no exposure  $\{0, 0, \ldots, 0\}$ , exposure during the first two periods only  $\{1, 1, 0, 0, \ldots, 0\}$ , and exposure every other period  $\{1, 0, 1, 0, \ldots\}$ .

We say that the time-varying exposure A(t) has a causal effect on the average value of Y if  $E(Y_{\bar{a}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}'}) \neq 0$  for at least two regimes  $\bar{a}$  and  $\bar{a}'$ . The g-formula, IPTW, and g-estimation can provide consistent estimators of counterfactual quantities like  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  under generalizations of our previous definitions of consistency, conditional exchangeability, and positivity. Specifically, the generalized identifiability conditions are:

- 1. Consistency. If  $\overline{A} = \overline{a}$  for a given subject, then  $Y_{\overline{a}} = Y$  for that subject.
- 2. Conditional exchangeability.  $Y_{\overline{a}} \amalg A(t) | \overline{A}(t-1) = \overline{a}(t-1), \overline{L}(t) = \overline{l}(t)$  for all regimes  $\overline{a}$  and all  $\overline{l}(t)$ .
- 3. Positivity. If  $f_{\overline{A}(t-1),\overline{L}(t)}\{\overline{a}(t-1),\overline{l}(t)\}\neq 0$ , then  $f_{A(t)|\overline{A}(t-1),\overline{L}(t)}\{a(t)|\overline{a}(t-1),\overline{l}(t)\}>0$  for all a(t).

The three conditions generally hold in ideal sequentially randomized experiments with full compliance. A sequentially randomized experiment is a randomized experiment in which the exposure value at each successive visit t is randomly assigned with known randomization probabilities (bounded away from 0 and 1) that, by design, may depend on a subject's past exposure  $\overline{A}(t-1)$  and covariate history  $\overline{L}(t)$  through t. In the setting of time-varying exposures, the assumption of conditional exchangeability is sometimes referred to as the assumption of sequential randomization or the assumption of no unmeasured confounders.

As for fixed exposures, exchangeability and conditional exchangeability can be represented by causal DAGs. The DAGs in Figures 23.2a,b,c are the time-varying analogs of those in Figures 23.1a,b,c, respectively (Robins, Hernán, and Brumback, 2000). Figure 23.2a represents a sequentially randomized experiment in which the randomization probabilities at each time t depend at most on a subject's past exposure history, which is the proper generalization of "no confounding by measured or unmeasured variables" to a sequentially randomized experiment. In particular, the causal DAG in Figure 23.2a implies unconditional or marginal exchangeability, which we write in two different but mathematically equivalent ways: for all t and  $\bar{a}$ ,  $Y_{\bar{a}} \amalg A(t) | \bar{A}(t-1) = \bar{a}(t-1)$  or  $Y_{\bar{a}} \amalg \bar{A}$ . As with fixed exposures, unconditional exchangeability means that association is causation,  $E(Y_{\bar{a}}) = E(Y|\bar{A} = \bar{a})$ and  $E(Y_{\bar{a}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}'}) = E(Y|\bar{A} = \bar{a}) - E(Y|\bar{A} = \bar{a}')$ , so data on the measured covariates  $\bar{L}$ need not be used to estimate average causal effects.

Figure 23.2b represents a sequentially randomized experiment in which the randomization probabilities at each time t depend on past exposure and measured covariate history but not further on unmeasured covariates, that is, there is confounding by measured covariates but no unmeasured confounding. Thus, the three identifiability conditions hold. In this setting, there is time-dependent confounding by  $\overline{L}$ , and association is not causation;



Figure 23.2 DAGs for time-varying exposure scenarios.

however, by using data on  $\overline{L}$ ,  $E(Y_{\overline{a}})$  can still be consistently estimated by using g-methods as described below.

Figure 23.2b also motivates the following precise definition of time-dependent confounding due to measured covariates. We say there is confounding for  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  if  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  (the mean outcome had, contrary to fact, all study subjects followed regime  $\overline{a}$ ) differs from the mean  $E(Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a})$  of Y (equivalently,  $Y_{\bar{a}}$ ) among the subset of subjects who followed regime  $\overline{a}$  in the actual study. We say the confounding is solely time-independent (i.e., wholly attributable to baseline covariates) if  $E\{Y_{\bar{a}}|L(0)\} = E\{Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}, L(0)\}$ , as would be the case if the only arrows pointing into A(1) in Figure 23.2(b) were from A(0) and L(0). In contrast, if the identifiability conditions hold, but  $E\{Y_{\bar{a}}|L(0)\} \neq E\{Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}, L(0)\}$ , we say that timedependent confounding is present.

Figure 23.2c represents a study in which the probability of exposure depends on variables U that cause Y and are unmeasured and thus cannot possibly represent a sequentially randomized experiment. In Figure 23.2c there is unmeasured confounding, and thus causal effects cannot be consistently estimated.

The expressions for the g-formula and IPTW presented above for fixed exposures need to be generalized for time-varying exposures. For example, with L(t) discrete, the g-formula based on  $\overline{L}$  for the counterfactual mean  $E(Y_{\overline{a}^*})$  is

$$\sum_{\overline{l}} E(Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}^*, \overline{L} = \overline{l}) \prod_{k=0}^{K} f\{l(k)|\overline{A}(k-1) = \overline{a}^*(k-1), \overline{L}(k-1) = \overline{l}(k-1)\}, \quad (23.1)$$

where the sum is over all possible  $\overline{l}$ -histories and  $\overline{l}(k-1)$  is the history  $\overline{l} = \overline{l}(K)$  through time k-1. Experience with this formula will be developed in Section 23.4 by working through an example.

Note that the g-formula for  $E(Y_{\bar{a}^*})$  is simply the mean of Y under a joint density  $f_{g=\bar{a}^*}(o)$  that differs from the observed density

$$f_{obs}(o) = f\{y|\overline{A}(k) = \overline{a}(k), \overline{L}(k) = \overline{l}(k)\}$$

$$\times \prod_{k=0}^{K} f\{l(k)|\overline{A}(k-1) = \overline{a}(k-1), \overline{L}(k-1) = \overline{l}(k-1)\}$$

$$\times \prod_{k=0}^{K} f\{a(k)|\overline{A}(k-1) = \overline{a}(k-1), \overline{L}(k) = \overline{l}(k)\}$$

for  $O = (\overline{A}, \overline{L}, Y)$  only in that each  $f\{a(k) | \overline{A}(k-1) = \overline{a}(k-1), \overline{L}(k) = \overline{l}(k)\}$  is replaced by a degenerate distribution that takes value  $a^*(k)$  specified by the regime  $\overline{a}^*$  with probability 1.

When applied to data from a sequentially randomized experiment like the one represented in the causal DAG of Figure 23.2b, the g-formula estimates  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  by effectively simulating the joint distribution of the variables  $\overline{L}$ ,  $\overline{A}$ , and Y that would have been observed in a hypothetical study where every subject received exposure  $\overline{a}$ . However, even in a sequentially randomized experiment,  $E(Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}, \overline{L} = \overline{l})$  and  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1), \overline{l}(k-1)\}$  will not be known, so estimates  $\widehat{E}(Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}, \overline{L} = \overline{l})$  and  $\widehat{f}\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1), \overline{l}(k-1)\}$  have to be used in the g-formula (23.1). In realistic experiments, these estimates must come from fitting parsimonious nonsaturated models. Model misspecification will result in biased estimators of  $E(Y_{\overline{a}})$ , even though the identifiability conditions hold. Robins and Wasserman (1997) showed that, if the sharp null hypothesis of no effect of exposure on Y is true, that is,

$$Y_{\overline{a}} - Y_{\overline{a}'} = 0$$
 with probability 1 for all  $\overline{a}'$  and  $\overline{a}$ 

then standard non-saturated models  $E(Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}, \overline{L} = \overline{l}; v)$  and  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1), \overline{l}(k-1); \omega\}$ based on distinct (i.e., variation-independent) parameters v and  $\omega$  cannot all be correct whenever L(k) has any discrete components. As a consequence, in large studies, inference based on the estimated g-formula will result in the sharp null hypothesis being falsely rejected, whenever it is true, even in a sequentially randomized experiment. This phenomenon is referred to as the null paradox of the estimated g-formula. Fortunately, neither IPTW estimation nor g-estimation suffers from the null paradox, and thus both are more robust methodologies. Furthermore, even in a fixed exposure randomized trial, E(Y|A = a, L = l) is unknown and must be estimated by fitting a non-saturated model when Lis high-dimensional. The estimated g-formula will generally be biased when the model for E(Y|A = a, L = l) is misspecified and the known randomization probabilities depend on L. However, the null paradox exists only with time-varying exposures.

The IPTW formula based on  $\overline{L}$  for the counterfactual mean  $E(Y_{\overline{a}})$  is the average of Y among subjects with  $\overline{A} = \overline{a}$  in a stabilized or unstabilized pseudo-population constructed by weighting each subject by their subject-specific stabilized IPTW

$$SW = \prod_{k=0}^{K} \frac{f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1)\}}{f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1),\overline{L}(k)\}},$$

or their unstabilized IPTW

$$W = \prod_{k=0}^{K} \frac{1}{f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}},$$

each a product over time-specific weights. When the three identifiability conditions hold, each IPTW method creates a pseudo-population in which (i) the mean of  $Y_{\bar{a}}$  is identical to

that in the actual population but (ii) like on the DAG in Figure 23.2(a), the randomization probabilities at each time t depend at most on past exposure history. The only difference is that in the unstabilized pseudo-population  $\Pr_{ps}\{A(k) = 1 | \overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\} = 1/2$ , while in the stabilized pseudo-population  $\Pr_{ps}\{A(k) = 1 | \overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}$  is  $\Pr\{A(k) = 1 | \overline{A}(k-1)\}$  from the actual population. Thus,  $E(Y_{\overline{a}})$  in the actual population is  $E_{ps}(Y | \overline{A} = \overline{a})$ , where the subscript *ps* refers to either pseudo-population. Hence, the average causal effect  $E(Y_{\overline{a}}) - E(Y_{\overline{a}'})$  is  $E_{ps}(Y | \overline{A} = \overline{a}) - E_{ps}(Y | \overline{A} = \overline{a'})$ .

One can estimate  $E_{ps}(Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a})$  from the observed study data by the average of Y among subjects with  $\overline{A} = \overline{a}$  in a stabilized or unstabilized pseudo-study population constructed by weighting each study subject by SW or W.

If  $f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}$  in SW or W is replaced by an estimator  $\widehat{f}\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}$ based on a misspecified logistic model for the  $\Pr\{A(k) = 1 | \overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}$ , the resulting estimators of  $E(Y_{\overline{a}})$  and  $E(Y_{\overline{a}}) - E(Y_{\overline{a}'})$  will be biased. In contrast, replacing the numerator of SW with an estimator  $\widehat{f}\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1)\}$  based on a misspecified model does not result in bias. These remarks apply also to the IPTW estimation of marginal structural models considered in the following subsection. Now, in a sequentially randomized experiment, the denominators of the weights are known by design and so need not be estimated. As a consequence, in contrast to the estimated g-formula, in a sequentially randomized experiment, IPTW estimation unbiasedly estimates  $E_{ps}(Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}) - E_{ps}(Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}')$  and so is never misleading.

When the three identifiability conditions hold in an observational study with a timevarying exposure, the observational study can be conceptualized as a sequentially randomized experiment, except that the probabilities  $f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}$  are unknown and must be estimated. However, the validity of these conditions is not guaranteed by design and is not subject to empirical verification. The best one can do is to use subject-matter knowledge to collect data on many potential time-dependent confounders. Furthermore, even if the identifiability conditions hold, bias in estimation of  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  and  $E(Y_{\bar{a}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}'})$ can occur (i) when using IPTW estimation due to misspecification of models for  $\Pr\{A(k) =$  $1|\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}$  and (ii) when using the estimated g-formula due to misspecification of models for  $E\{Y|\overline{A} = \overline{a}, \overline{L} = \overline{l}\}$  and  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1), \overline{l}(k-1)\}$ . However, the robustness of IPTW methods to model mispecification can be increased by using doubly robust estimators as described in Bang and Robins (2005); see Chapter 20 for a discussion of doubly robust estimators.

#### 23.3.2 Marginal structural models

If, as is not infrequent in practice, K is of the order of 100 and the number of study subjects is of order 1000, then the 2<sup>100</sup> unknown quantities  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  far exceeds the sample size. Thus, very few subjects in the observed study population follow any given regime, so we need to specify a non-saturated model for the  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  that combines information from many regimes to help estimate a given  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$ . The price paid for modeling  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  is yet another threat to the validity of the estimators due to possible model misspecification.

Suppose for a continuous response Y it is hypothesized that the effect of treatment history  $\overline{a}$  on the mean outcome increases linearly as a function of the cumulative exposure cum $(\overline{a}) = \sum_{t=0}^{K} a(t)$  under regime  $\overline{a}$ . This hypothesis is encoded in the marginal structural mean model

$$E(Y_{\overline{a}}) = \eta_0 + \eta_1 \operatorname{cum}(\overline{a}) \tag{23.2}$$

for all  $\overline{a}$ . The model is referred to as a marginal structural model because it models the marginal mean of the counterfactuals  $Y_{\overline{a}}$ , and models for counterfactuals are often referred

#### TIME-VARYING EXPOSURES

to as structural models. There are  $2^{K}$  different unknown quantities on the left-hand side of model (23.2), one for each of the  $2^{K}$  different regimes  $\overline{a}$ , but only two unknown parameters  $\eta_{0}$  and  $\eta_{1}$  on the right-hand side. It follows that the MSM (23.2) is not a saturated (i.e., non-parametric) model because saturated models must have an equal number of unknowns on both sides of their defining equation. Any unsaturated model may be misspecified. For example, MSM (23.2) would be misspecified if  $E(Y_{\overline{a}})$  either depended on some function of the regime  $\overline{a}$  other than cumulative exposure (say, cumulative exposure only in the final 5 weeks cum<sub>-5</sub>( $\overline{a}$ ) =  $\sum_{K=5}^{K} a(t)$ ) or depended non-linearly (say, quadratically) on cumulative exposure. It follows that we need methods both to test whether MSM (23.2) is correctly specified and to estimate the parameters  $\eta_{0}$  and  $\eta_{1}$ . It is important to note that, under the null hypothesis, the MSM is correctly specified with  $\eta_{1} = 0$ . Thus, MSMs are not subject to the null paradox.

MSMs are fit by IPTW as described, for example, by Robins, Hernán, and Brumback (2000). Specifically, Robins (1998) has shown that if we fit the ordinary linear regression model

$$E(Y|\overline{A}) = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 \operatorname{cum}(\overline{A}) \tag{23.3}$$

to the observed data by weighted least squares with weights SW or W, then, under the three identifiability conditions, the weighted least-squares estimators of  $\gamma_0$  and  $\gamma_1$  are consistent for the causal parameters  $\eta_0$  and  $\eta_1$  of the MSM (23.2) (but are inconsistent for the association parameters  $\gamma_0$  and  $\gamma_1$  of model [23.3]) because weighted least squares with weights SW or W is equivalent to ordinary least squares (OLS) in the stabilized or unstabilized unconfounded pseudo-population, respectively. In these populations, the association being estimated with OLS is causation.

A robust variance estimator (e.g., as used for GEE models; see Chapter 3) can be used to set confidence intervals for  $\eta_0$  and  $\eta_1$  and thus for any  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  of interest. These intervals remain valid (i.e., are conservative) even when estimates are substituted for the numerator and/or denominator weights, provided the model for the denominator weights is correctly specified. For a non-saturated model like MSM (23.2) the length of the intervals will typically be much narrower when the model is fit with the weights SW than with the weights W, so the SW weights are preferred.

Further, if we fit the model

$$E(Y|\overline{A}) = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 \operatorname{cum}(\overline{A}) + \gamma_2 \operatorname{cum}_{-5}(\overline{A}) + \gamma_3 \{\operatorname{cum}(\overline{A})\}^2$$

by weighted least squares with weights SW or W, a Wald test on two degrees of freedom of the joint hypothesis  $\gamma_2 = \gamma_3 = 0$  is a test of the null hypothesis that MSM (23.2) is correctly specified with high power against the particular directions of misspecification mentioned above, especially if the weights SW are used.

Suppose it is further hypothesized that, for a particular dichotomous component V of the vector of baseline covariates L(0), there might exist a qualitative V-exposure effect modification, with the result that exposure might be harmful to subjects with V = 0 and beneficial to those with V = 1, or vice versa. To examine this hypothesis, we would elaborate MSM (23.2) as

$$E(Y_{\overline{a}}|V) = \eta_0 + \eta_1 \operatorname{cum}(\overline{a}) + \eta_2 V + \eta_3 \operatorname{cum}(\overline{a})V,$$

an MSM conditional on the baseline covariate V. Qualitative effect modification is present if  $\eta_1$  and  $\eta_1 + \eta_3$  are of opposite signs. We can estimate the model parameters by fitting the ordinary linear regression model  $E(Y|\overline{A}, V) = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 \operatorname{cum}(\overline{A}) + \gamma_2 V + \gamma_3 V \operatorname{cum}(\overline{A})$  by weighted least squares with model weights SW or W. However, Robins (1998) showed that for an MSM defined conditional on a baseline covariate V, confidence intervals will still be valid but narrower if, rather than using weights SW or W, we use the weights

$$SW(V) = \prod_{k=0}^{K} \frac{f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1), V\}}{f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}}$$

which differ from SW by adding V to the conditioning event in the numerator.

#### 23.3.3 Dynamic regimes

So far we have only considered estimation of the mean outcome  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  under the  $2^{K}$  static or non-dynamic regimes  $\bar{a}$ . However, to characterize the optimal treatment strategy, it is usually necessary to consider dynamic regimes as well.

A non-random dynamic regime is a treatment strategy or rule in which the treatment a(t) at time t depends in a deterministic manner on the evolution of a subject's measured time-dependent covariates  $\overline{L}(t)$  and, possibly, treatments  $\overline{A}(t-1)$  up to t. An example would be the dynamic regime "take the treatment methotrexate at week t if and only if the neutrophil count has been greater than 1000 for three consecutive weeks and the patient was not on treatment at week t - 1." Mathematically, when A(t) is a binary treatment, a non-random dynamic regime g is a collection of functions  $\{g_k\{\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k)\}; k = 0, \ldots, K\}$ , each with range the two-point set  $\{0, 1\}$ , where  $g_k\{\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k)\}$  specifies the treatment to be taken at k for a subject with past history  $\{\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k)\}$ . In our methotrexate example,  $g_k\{\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k)\}$  is 1 if a subject's a(k-1) is zero and his  $\overline{l}(k)$  implies that his neutrophil count has been greater than 1000 at weeks k, k-1, and k-2 (so k must be at least 2); otherwise  $g_k\{\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k)\}$  is 0.

A random dynamic regime is a treatment strategy where the treatment a(t) at time t depends in a probabilistic way on  $\overline{l}(t)$  and possibly  $\overline{a}(t-1)$ . An example would be "if the neutrophil count has been greater than 1000 for three consecutive weeks, randomize the subject to take methotrexate at week t with randomization probability 0.80, otherwise use randomization probability 0.10." Thus, a random dynamic regime is precisely a sequentially randomized experiment.

Now let g represent a regime — dynamic or non-dynamic, deterministic or random and let  $Y_g$  denote the counterfactual outcome had regime g been followed. If high values of the outcome are considered beneficial, then the optimal regime  $g_{opt}$  maximizes the average outcome  $E(Y_g)$  over all regimes. In fact, we need only try to find the optimal regime among the deterministic regimes as no random strategy can ever be preferred to the optimal deterministic strategy. Furthermore, the above example indicates that this optimal deterministic treatment strategy must be a dynamic regime whenever the treatment is a potentially toxic prescription drug such as methotrexate, as it is essential to temporarily discontinue the drug when a severe toxicity such as neutropenia develops. Random regimes (i.e., ordinary randomized trials and sequentially randomized trials) remain scientifically necessary because, before the trial, it is unknown which deterministic regime is optimal.

Under a slight strengthening of the identifiability conditions,  $E(Y_g)$  for a deterministic dynamic regime g can be estimated from the data collected in a sequentially randomized trial by the average of Y among subjects in the unstabilized (but not in the stabilized) pseudostudy population who followed the regime g, that is, subjects whose observed covariate and treatment history is consistent with following regime g. Note that this is our first example of a result that is true for the unstabilized but not the stabilized IPTW estimation. The required strengthening is that we need the "strengthened" identifiability conditions:

1. "Strengthened" consistency. For any regime g, if, for a given subject, we have  $A(k) = g_k\{\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}$  at each time k, then  $Y_g = Y$  and  $\overline{L}_g(K) = \overline{L}(K)$  for that subject, where  $\overline{L}_g(k)$  is the counterfactual *L*-history through time k under regime g.

#### TIME-VARYING EXPOSURES

**Remark:** For any regime g for which the treatment at each k does not depend on past treatment history so  $g_k\{\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k)\} = g_k\{\overline{l}(k)\}$ , we can write the "strengthened" consistency condition as follows: If  $\overline{A} = \overline{g}_K\{\overline{L}(K)\}$  for a given subject, then  $Y_g = Y$  and  $\overline{L}_g(K) = \overline{L}(K)$  for that subject, where  $\overline{g}_k\{\overline{L}(k)\}$  is the treatment through time k of a subject following regime g with covariate history  $\overline{L}(k)$ .

2. "Strengthened" conditional exchangeability. For any t,  $\overline{l}(t)$  and regime g,

$$Y_g \amalg A(t) | \overline{L}(t) = \overline{l}(t), A(k) = g_k \{ \overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k) \}$$
 for  $k = 0, \dots, t-1$ 

**Remark:** For any regime g for which the treatment at each k does not depend on past treatment history, so  $g_k\{\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k)\} = g_k\{\overline{l}(k)\}$ , we can write "strengthened" conditional exchangeability as follows: For all  $t, \overline{l}(t)$ , and regimes g,

$$Y_g \amalg A(t) | \overline{L}(t) = \overline{l}(t), \quad \overline{A}(t-1) = \overline{g}_{t-1} \{ \overline{l}(t-1) \}$$

3. Positivity. This assumption remains unchanged.

Strengthened conditions 1 and 2 will hold on any causal DAG, such as that corresponding to a sequentially randomized trial, in which all parents of treatment variables A(m) are measured variables. This implication follows from two facts. First, any such causal DAG satisfies both of the following conditions:

- 1. "Full" consistency:  $Y_{\overline{a}} = Y_{\overline{a}^*}$  if  $\overline{a}^* = \overline{a}$ ;  $Y = Y_{\overline{a}}$  if  $\overline{A} = \overline{a}$ ;  $\overline{L}_{\overline{a}}(m) = \overline{L}_{\overline{a}^*}(m)$  if  $\overline{a}^*(m-1) = \overline{a}(m-1)$ ;  $\overline{L}_{\overline{a}}(m) = \overline{L}(m)$  if  $\overline{A}(m-1) = \overline{a}(m-1)$ , where  $\overline{L}_{\overline{a}}(m)$  is the counterfactual *L*-history through time *m* under regime  $\overline{a}$ .
- 2. "Full" conditional exchangeability

$$(Y_{\overline{\mathcal{A}}}, \overline{L}_{\overline{\mathcal{A}}}) \amalg A(t) | \overline{A}(t-1), \overline{L}(t),$$

where  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$  denotes the set of all  $2^K$  regimes  $\overline{a}$ ,  $Y_{\overline{\mathcal{A}}}$  denotes the set of all  $2^K$  counterfactuals  $Y_{\overline{a}}$ , and  $\overline{L}_{\overline{\mathcal{A}}}$  denotes the set of all  $2^K$  counterfactual covariate histories  $\overline{L}_{\overline{a}}$  through the end of the study.

Second, the "full" consistency and "full" conditional exchangeability conditions imply both the strengthened conditions, even though the "full" conditions only refer to nondynamic regimes (Robins, 1986).

**Remark:** Associated with each regime g with treatment  $g_k\{\overline{a}(k-1), \overline{l}(k)\}$  depending on past treatment and covariate history is another regime  $g^{\triangle}$  with treatment  $g_k^{\triangle}\{\bar{l}(k)\}$  dependence ing only on past covariate history such that if "full" consistency holds, any subject following regime g from time zero will have the same treatment, covariate, and outcome history as when following regime  $g^{\triangle}$  from time zero. In particular,  $Y_g = Y_{g^{\triangle}}$  and  $\overline{L}_g(K) = \overline{L}_{g^{\triangle}}(K)$ . Specifically,  $g^{\triangle}$  is defined in terms of g recursively by  $g_0^{\triangle}\{l(0)\} = g_0\{\overline{a}(-1) = 0, l(0)\}$ (by convention,  $\overline{a}(-1)$  can only take the value zero) and  $g_k^{\triangle}\{\overline{l}(k)\} = g_k[g_{k-1}^{\triangle}\{\overline{l}(k-1)\},$  $\overline{l}(k)$ ]. For the dynamic methotrexate regime q described earlier,  $q^{\Delta}$  is the regime "take methotrexate at k if and only if your  $\overline{l}(k)$  implies your neutrophil count has been greater than 1000 for m consecutive weeks and m is an odd number greater than or equal to 3." Requiring m to be odd guarantees that no subject will ever take methotrexate for two consecutive weeks, as specified by regime q. For any regime q for which treatment at each k already does not depend on past treatment history, g and  $g^{\Delta}$  are the identical set of functions. The above definition of  $g^{\Delta}$  in terms of g guarantees that a subject has followed regime g through time t in the observed data (i.e.,  $A(k) = g_k\{\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}$  for  $k \leq t$ ) if and only if the subject has followed regime  $g^{\triangle}$  through t (i.e.,  $A(k) = g_k^{\triangle} \{\overline{L}(k)\}$  for  $k \leq t$ ).

"Full" consistency is a natural assumption that we will always make. Therefore, in view of the last remark, unless stated otherwise, we will henceforth use the term "dynamic regime" to refer to dynamic regimes for which the treatment at each k depends on past covariates but not on past treatment history.

The above discussion raises the question of whether or not it is substantively plausible that  $E(Y_g)$  is identifiable by the g-formula for non-dynamic g but not for dynamic g, because conditional exchangeability, but neither "full" nor "strengthened" conditional exchangeability holds. Robins (1986) showed that this state of affairs is indeed substantively plausible. For example, it can occur when there exist unmeasured common causes U of treatment A(k) and a covariate L(t), k < t, but there do not exist unmeasured common causes of the A(k) and Y. In Section 23.7 we provide a general graphical criterion due to Robins (1997b) that can be used to determine the subset of all regimes g (dynamic and non-dynamic) for which either of the above exchangeability conditions continue to hold. For g in the subset,  $E(Y_g)$  remains unidentifiable by the unstabilized IPTW formula.

Of course, very few subjects in the observed study population follow any given regime, so, in practice, we need to combine information from many different regimes to estimate a given  $E(Y_g)$ . In Section 23.4 and Section 23.5 we show that this combination can be accomplished through g-estimation of nested structural models or IPTW estimation of dynamic MSMs (as defined in Section 23.5). Finally, we note that we can also estimate  $E(Y_g)$  under the strengthened identifiability conditions using the g-formula (23.1), modified by replacing  $\overline{a}(k-1)$  by  $\overline{g}\{\overline{l}(k-1)\}$  and  $\overline{a}$  by  $\overline{g}\{\overline{l}(K)\}$ . However, as discussed above, the estimated g-formula, in contrast to g-estimation of nested structural models, suffers from the null paradox, and thus is less robust.

Under the strengthened identifiability conditions, we will see in Section 23.5 that gmethods can be used to estimate not only  $E(Y_g)$  but also the optimal (deterministic) treatment regime from observational data, even though, in most observational studies, subjects are not following any particular deterministic regime. The reason why this strategy succeeds is that we may conceptualize the subjects in such an observational study as following a random dynamic regime, with unknown randomization probabilities that must be estimated from the data.

#### 23.4 Analysis of a hypothetical study

#### 23.4.1 The study

Table 23.1 contains data from a hypothetical study of the effect of antiretroviral therapy on a global health score Y measured at the end of follow-up in 32,000 HIV-infected subjects. Y is a function of CD4 cell count, serum HIV RNA, and certain biochemical measures of possible drug toxicity, with higher values of Y signifying better health. The variables A(0)and A(1) are 1 if a subject received antiretroviral therapy at times t = 0 and t = 1, respectively, and 0 otherwise. The binary variable L(1) is temporally prior to A(1) and takes on the value 1 if the subject's CD4 cell count was greater than 200 cells/ $\mu$ L at time t = 1, and is 0 otherwise. To save space, the table displays one row per combination of values of A(0), L(1), and A(1), rather than one row per subject. For each of the eight combinations, the table provides the number of subjects and the average value of the outcome  $E\{Y|A(0), L(1), A(1)\}$ . Thus, in row 1 of Table 23.1,  $E\{Y|A(0), L(1), A(1)\} = 200$  means  $E\{Y|A(0) = 0, L(1) = 1, A(1) = 0\} = 200$ . We suppose that sampling variability is absent, and we assume consistency. Further, by inspection of Table 23.1, we can conclude that the positivity condition is satisfied, because otherwise one or more of the eight rows would have had zero subjects.

For the present, we suppose that the data arose from a sequentially randomized trial in which treatment at time 1 is randomly assigned with probability that depends on prior

Row	A(0)	L(1)	A(1)	N	$E\{Y A(0), L(1), A(1)\}$
1	0	1	0	2000	200
2	0	1	1	6000	220
3	0	0	0	6000	50
4	0	0	1	2000	70
5	1	1	0	3000	130
6	1	1	1	9000	110
$\overline{7}$	1	0	0	3000	230
8	1	0	1	1000	250

 Table 23.1
 The Hypothetical Study Data

covariate history but not on prior exposure. Because our interest is in the implications of time-dependent confounding by L(1), we did not bother to include a measured baseline covariate L(0). Alternatively, one can assume that a measured baseline covariate L(0) exists but that the data in Table 23.1 are from a single stratum l(0) of L(0).

#### 23.4.2 A priori causal assumptions

We assume Figure 23.3 is the causal DAG corresponding to this study. In Figure 23.3, U denotes a subject's baseline immunological function, an unmeasured variable that therefore does not appear in Table 23.1. The dotted arrows from A(0) to Y, L to Y, and A(1) to Y emphasize that we do not know, based on prior subject-matter knowledge, whether or not these causal arrows are present; in fact, our goal will be to use the data in Table 23.1 to determine, as far as possible, which of these arrows are present. We will later see that the data from Table 23.1 imply that (i) the arrow from A(1) to Y is present and that (ii) the arrow from A(0) to Y, or the arrow from L to Y, or both are present.

We now describe how, before observing the data, we used our subject-matter knowledge to decide that Figure 23.3 was an appropriate causal DAG. First, note the causal DAG in Figure 23.3, like that in Figure 23.2(b), is not a complete DAG because there do not exist direct arrows from U into either treatment. This is justified by our assumption that the study was a sequentially randomized trial. The absence of these arrows implies strengthened conditional exchangeability, that is,  $Y_g \amalg A(0)$  and  $Y_g \amalg A(1)|A(0) = a(0), L(1) = l(1)$  for all regimes g, whether static or dynamic. The arrows from U to Y and from U to CD4 cell count L(1) are justified on subject-matter grounds by the well-known effects of immunosuppression on viral load and CD4 cell count. The arrow from A(0) to L(1) is justified by prior knowledge of the effect of antiretroviral therapy on CD4 cell count. The presence of the arrow from L(1)into A(1) and the absence of an arrow from A(0) into A(1) are justified by our knowledge that treatment at time 1 was randomly assigned with probability that depended only on prior covariate history.



Figure 23.3 Causal DAG in the hypothetical study population.

#### 23.4.3 Testing our causal assumptions

Assumptions concerning causal relations based on subject-matter knowledge can sometimes be mistaken. However, under the sole assumption that the study satisfies conditional exchangeability (implied by the assumption of no arrows from U into either treatment), we can use the data in Table 23.1 to confirm or refute empirically whether or not the arrows argued for on subject-matter grounds are actually present. To carry this out, we assume that the dashed arrows are actually present until we can prove otherwise. If the causal arrow from A(0) to L(1) were not present in Figure 23.3, A(0) and L(1) would be d-separated and thus independent by the causal Markov assumption (see the definitions in Section 23.7). But the data refute independence because  $Pr\{L(1) = 1|A(0) = 1\} = 0.75$  differs from  $Pr\{L(1) = 1|A(0) = 0\} = 0.50$ .

Here is an alternative but closely related argument that results in the same conclusion. A causal arrow from A(0) to L(1) exists if the average causal effect  $E\{L_{a(0)=1}(1)\} - E\{L_{a(0)=0}(1)\}$  of the fixed exposure A(0) on the outcome L(1) is non-zero. Because there is no confounding for the effect of A(0) on L(1), association is causation, and thus

$$E\{L_{a(0)=1}(1)\} - E\{L_{a(0)=0}(1)\} = E\{L(1)|A(0)=1\} - E\{L(1)|A(0)=0\},\$$

which is non-zero.

Next, the absence of a causal arrow from A(0) to A(1) in Figure 23.3 implies A(1) and A(0) d-separated, and thus independent, given L(1), which is confirmed by the data in Table 23.1. If the causal arrow from L(1) to A(1) was not present in Figure 23.3, A(1) and L(1) would be d-separated, and thus independent, given A(0), which is refuted by the data in Table 23.1.

#### 23.4.4 Determining which dotted arrows are present

#### 23.4.4.1 A fixed exposure analysis at time 1

We can use the data in Table 23.1 to try to determine which of the dotted arrows in Figure 23.3 are present. In Figure 23.3, if the causal arrow from A(1) to Y was not present, A(1) and Y would be d-separated, and thus independent, given L(1) and A(0), which is refuted by the data in Table 23.1 because, for example,  $E\{Y|A(0) = 0, L(1) = 0, A(1) = 1\} = 70$  and  $E\{Y|A(0) = 0, L(1) = 0, A(1) = 0\} = 50$ . Thus, we conclude that A(1) has a causal effect on Y.

Here is another way to think about this. View the effect of A(1) as that of a fixed baseline exposure in a study beginning at time 1 with baseline covariates  $\{A(0), L(1)\}$ . Then a causal arrow from A(1) to Y exists if the average causal effect  $E\{Y_{a(1)=1}|A(0), L(1)\} - E\{Y_{a(1)=0}|A(0), L(1)\}$  is non-zero in any of the four strata determined by joint levels of  $\{A(0), L(1)\}$ . But because, by sequential randomization, there is no confounding for the effect of A(1) on Y within levels of  $\{A(0), L(1)\}$  (equivalently, all non-causal paths from A(1) to Y are blocked when we condition on  $\{A(0), L(1)\}$ , conditional association is causation and  $E\{Y_{a(1)=1}|A(0), L(1)\} - E\{Y_{a(1)=0}|A(0), L(1)\} = E\{Y|A(1) = 1, A(0), L(1)\} - E\{Y(1)|A(1) = 0, A(0), L(1)\}$ , which, for example, is non-zero in the stratum where A(0) = 0, L(1) = 0.

We were able to use standard analytic methods (e.g., stratification) to prove the existence of the arrows from A(1) to Y or from A(0) to L(1) because these causal questions were reducible to questions about the effects of fixed treatments.

Our analysis of the effect of A(1) on Y raises alternative interesting points about confounding. Suppose the arrow from L(1) to Y does not exist. Then L(1) would not be a direct cause of Y and thus the only source of confounding for the effect of A(1) on Y (i.e., the causal confounder) would be the unmeasured common cause U; nonetheless data on L(1) still suffice to block backdoor (i.e., non-causal; see Section 23.7) paths from A(1) to Y and thus to control confounding. Further, even were the data in Table 23.1 not available, we would expect (i) L(1) to be associated with exposure A(1) within strata of A(0) (i.e.,  $L(1)\amalg A(1)|A(0)$ is false) because the path  $L(1) \longrightarrow A(1)$  is not blocked by conditioning on A(0); and (ii) L(1) to be an independent risk factor for Y within one or more of the four joint strata of  $\{A(1), A(0)\}$  (i.e.,  $L(1)\amalg Y|A(1), A(0)$  is false or, equivalently,  $E\{Y|L(1) = 1, A(1), A(0)\} \neq E\{Y|L(1) = 0, A(1), A(0)\}$ ), because the path  $L(1) \longleftarrow U \longrightarrow Y$  is not blocked by conditioning on A(1) and A(0). In this setting, we follow common practice and refer to L(1)as a confounder for the effect of A(1) on Y (although not as a causal confounder) given data on A(0), because, within levels of A(0), L(1) is the measured risk factor for Y that is used to control confounding. We can empirically confirm that  $L(1)\amalg Y|A(1), A(0)$  and  $L(1)\amalg A(1)|A(0)$  are both false using the data in Table 23.1.

#### 23.4.4.2 Joint effects, direct effects, and g-methods

Conventional methods, however, may fail to identify the presence (or absence) of causal arrows that correspond to a joint effect of the time-varying exposure  $\{A(0), A(1)\}$ . A class of joint effects often of interest in epidemiology are the (controlled) direct effects of A(0)on Y not mediated through A(1). With dichotomous exposures, there exist two such direct effects. First, the direct effect of the baseline exposure A(0) when the later exposure A(1)is set (i.e., forced) to be 0 is, by definition, the counterfactual contrast

$$E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,0\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,0\}}) = E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,0\}} - Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,0\}}),$$

which is the average of the individual causal effects  $Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,0\}} - Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,0\}}$  that quantify the effect of baseline exposure when later exposure is withheld. Note this formal definition for the direct effect of A(0) with A(1) set to zero makes clear that the question of whether A(0) directly affects Y not through A(1) is a question about the effect of joint intervention on A(0) and A(1). The second direct effect is the direct effect of A(0) when the exposure A(1) is set to 1, which, by definition, is the counterfactual contrast

$$E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}}) = E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}} - Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}})$$

that quantifies the effect of the baseline exposure when exposure at time 1 is always given.

When, on the causal DAG in Figure 23.3, the dotted arrows from A(0) to Y and L(1) to Y are both absent, the direct effects  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,0\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,0\}})$  and  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}})$ will both be zero, as then the only sequence of directed arrows from A(0) to Y would go through A(1). If one or both of the direct effects are non-zero, then a sequence of directed arrows from A(0) to Y that avoids A(1) must exist and, thus, one or both of the dotted arrows from A(0) to Y and L(1) to Y must be present. However, to determine from the data in Table 23.1 whether either or both direct effects are non-zero requires appropriate use of methods for causal inference with time-varying exposures like the g-formula, IPTW, or g-estimation, because, as we demonstrate below, conventional methods fail, even when the three identifiability conditions hold.

#### 23.4.4.3 G-formula

If we can estimate the counterfactual means  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,0\}})$ ,  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,0\}})$ ,  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}})$ , and  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}})$  under the four possible static regimes, we can estimate both direct effects. All four means can be consistently estimated by the g-formula because the three identifiability conditions hold in a sequentially randomized trial. Because the confounder L(1) is a binary variable, the g-formula can be written explicitly as

$$E(Y_{\bar{a}}) = E\{Y|A(0) = a(0), A(1) = a(1), L(1) = 0\} \Pr\{L(1) = 0|A(0) = a(0)\} + E\{Y|A(0) = a(0), A(1) = a(1), L(1) = 1\} \Pr\{L(1) = 1|A(0) = a(0)\}$$

for  $\overline{a} = \{a(0), a(1)\}$ . Using this formula, the four means under each of the regimes are

$$E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,0\}}) = 200 \times \frac{8000}{16,000} + 50 \times \frac{8000}{16,000} = 125,$$

 $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}}) = 145, E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,0\}}) = 155, E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) = 145.$ 

We conclude that there is a direct effect of A(0) on the mean of Y when A(1) is set to 0 but not when A(1) is set to 1. As a consequence, we know that one or both of the A(0)to Y and L(1) to Y arrows must be present. However, we cannot determine whether or not the causal arrow from L(1) to Y is present, as the causal effect of L(1) on Y cannot be consistently estimated because of the unblockable backdoor path  $L(1) \leftarrow U \longrightarrow Y$ . As a consequence of our inability to determine the causal effect of L(1) on Y, we also cannot determine in general whether none (corresponding to no arrow from A(0) to Y), some, or all of the non-zero direct effect of A(0) on Y when A(1) is withheld is due to a direct causal effect of A(0) on Y not through L(1).

#### 23.4.5 Why standard methods fail

We will show that when there exists, as in our study, a post-baseline covariate L(1) that (i) is caused by (or shares a common cause with) baseline exposure A(0) and (ii) is a confounder for the effect of a subsequent exposure A(1) on a response Y, standard analytic methods that use stratification, regression, or matching for covariate adjustment cannot be used to estimate causal contrasts that depend on the joint effects of both the baseline and subsequent exposures. We will see that the difficulty with standard methods is that, to estimate the joint effects of A(0) and A(1), we must adjust for the confounding effect of L(1)to estimate consistently the effect of A(1) on Y; however, if we adjust for the confounding by stratification, regression, or matching on L(1), we cannot consistently estimate the effect of A(0) because the association of L(1) with A(0) results in selection bias, even under the null hypothesis of no causal effect (direct, indirect, or net) of A(0) on Y.

As a specific example, we consider the causal contrast  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}})$  representing the direct effect of A(0) on Y when treated with A(1), which we have shown to take the value 0 in our study. If one did not know about g-methods, a natural, but naive, attempt to estimate  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}})$  from the data in Table 23.1 would be to calculate the associational contrast  $E\{Y|A(0) = 1, A(1) = 1\} - E\{Y|A(0) = 0, A(1) = 1\}$ . From Table 23.1, we obtain

$$E\{Y|A(0) = 1, A(1) = 1\} = \frac{1}{10,000}(110 \times 9000 + 250 \times 1000) = 124,$$
$$E\{Y|A(0) = 0, A(1) = 1\} = \frac{1}{8000}(220 \times 6000 + 70 \times 2000) = 182.5.$$

Because this analysis fails to adjust for the confounder L(1) of A(1)'s effect on Y, the associational contrast  $E\{Y|A(0) = 1, A(1) = 1\} - E\{Y|A(0) = 0, A(1) = 1\} = -58.5$  is non-causal and biased as an estimator of the causal contrast  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}}) = 0$ . Had the causal DAG in Figure 23.3 not had the arrow from L(1) to A(1), there would have then been no confounding by either the measured factors L(1) or the unmeasured factors U for either of the exposures, and we would have found that association was causation, that is, that  $E\{Y|A(0) = 1, A(1) = 1\} - E\{Y|A(0) = 0, A(1) = 1\}$  was equal to  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}})$ .

It will prove useful later for us to consider the saturated conditional association model

$$E\{Y|A(0) = a(0), A(1) = a(1)\} = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 a(0) + \gamma_2 a(1) + \gamma_3 a(0)a(1).$$
(23.4)

-		· · /		
A(0)	A(1)	N	E	$\{Y A(0), A(1)\}$
0	0	8000	87.5	$= \gamma_0$
0	1	8000	182.5	$=\gamma_0+\gamma_2$
1	0	6000	180	$=\gamma_0+\gamma_1$
1	1	10000	124	$= \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + \gamma_3$

**Table 23.2** The Hypothetical Study Population Collapsed over L(1)

We can estimate the model parameters by collapsing the population data over L(1), as shown in Table 23.2. We can then calculate the parameter values from the equations

$$E\{Y|A(0) = 0, A(1) = 0\} = \gamma_0,$$
  

$$E\{Y|A(0) = 0, A(1) = 1\} = \gamma_0 + \gamma_2,$$
  

$$E\{Y|A(0) = 1, A(1) = 0\} = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1,$$
  

$$E\{Y|A(0) = 1, A(1) = 1\} = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + \gamma_3$$

and the values of  $E\{Y|A(0) = a(0), A(1) = a(1)\}$  in Table 23.2. We find  $\gamma_0 = 87.5, \gamma_1 = 92.5, \gamma_2 = 95$ , and  $\gamma_3 = -151$ . These parameter estimates are precisely those that result from fitting, by ordinary least squares, a linear model for the outcome Y that contains, as regressors, an intercept, A(0), A(1), and the product  $A(0) \times A(1)$ . Note that, if we were given the values of the  $\gamma$ -parameters, we could use the above equations in the other direction to calculate the conditional means  $E\{Y|A(0) = a(0), A(1) = a(1)\}$ .

Upon recognizing that the above associational contrast is biased for  $E\{Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}\}-E\{Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}}\}$  due to uncontrolled confounding by L(1), it is natural to try to adjust for confounding by computing the two *l*-stratum-specific associations

$$\begin{split} E\{Y|A(0) &= 1, L(1) = 0, A(1) = 1\} - E\{Y|A(0) = 0, L(1) = 0, A(1) = 1\} \\ &= 250 - 70 = 180, \\ E\{Y|A(0) &= 1, L(1) = 1, A(1) = 1\} - E\{Y|A(0) = 0, L(1) = 1, A(1) = 1\} \\ &= 110 - 220 = -110, \end{split}$$

or their weighted average

$$-110 \times \frac{20}{32} + 180 \times \frac{12}{32} = 69.75,$$

with weights determined by the distribution of L in the study population of 32,000. Note that Pr(L = 1) = 20/32. Neither of the *l*-stratum-specific associations nor their population weighted average is a valid, unbiased estimator of the actual causal contrast  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) - E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}}) = 0$ . The biases in the *l*-stratum-specific associations reflect the selection bias that is induced when one conditions on a covariate L(1) that is a predictor of Y given A(0)and A(1) and is caused by treatment A(0) (Rosenbaum, 1984; Robins, 1986).

This selection bias can be understood with the help of causal graphs (Hernán, Hernández-Díaz, and Robins, 2004). To do so, consider another study whose causal graph is also given by Figure 23.3, but modified so that all three dotted arrows are absent. The modified graph implies that neither A(0) nor A(1) has a direct, indirect, or net effect on Y. Yet, even in this setting, we would expect that the two *l*-stratum-specific associations would still remain non-zero and therefore biased for  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}})-E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}})=0$ . To see why, note the associational *l*-stratum-specific associations are zero only when Y and A(0) are conditionally independent given A(1) = 1 and L. But we would not expect such conditional independence because, on the modified graph, the path  $A(0) \longrightarrow L(1) \longleftarrow U \longrightarrow Y$  connecting Y and A(0) is opened when we condition (i.e., stratify) on the collider L(1) and/or L(1)'s descendant A(1) (see definitions in Section 23.7). In our study, conditioning on A(1) = 1 and L(1) similarly results in selection bias; however, the presence of the arrow from A(1) to Y and of one or both of the arrows from A(0) to Y and L(1) to Y makes a purely graphical demonstration of the bias less clear.

#### 23.4.6 IPTW and marginal structural models

We now describe how to use IPTW for estimating the counterfactual means  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  under the four static regimes  $\bar{a} = \{a(0), a(1)\}$ . The first step is to create a stabilized pseudo-population by weighting the subjects in each row in Table 23.1 by the stabilized weights

$$SW = \frac{f\{A(0)\}f\{A(1)|A(0)\}}{f\{A(0)\}f\{A(1)|A(0),L(1)\}} = \frac{f\{A(1)|A(0)\}}{f\{A(1)|A(0),L(1)\}}.$$

Note that the factor  $f\{A(0)\}$  cancels because in our study the potential confounder L(0) is absent. Table 23.3 records the values of  $f\{A(1)|A(0)\}$ ,  $f\{A(1)|A(0), L(1)\}$ , SW, and the number of subjects in the pseudo-population.

For example, for the first row,

$$f\{A(1)|A(0)\} = \Pr\{A(1) = 0|A(0) = 0\} = 8000/16,000 = 0.5,$$
  
$$f\{A(1)|A(0), L(1)\} = \Pr\{A(1) = 0|A(0) = 0, L(1) = 1\} = 2000/8000 = 0.25.$$

Each of the 2000 subjects in the first row therefore receives the weight SW = 0.5/0.25 = 2. Hence, the row contributes  $4000 = 2 \times 2000$  subjects to the pseudo-population. The IPTW weights eliminate the arrow between L(1) and A(1) in the pseudo-population as shown in Figure 23.4. The absence of the arrow can be easily confirmed by checking whether or not  $A(1) \coprod_{ps} L(1) |A(0)$ , where  $\coprod_{ps}$  represents independence in the pseudo-population. This conditional independence holds in the pseudo-population of our example because

$$\Pr_{ps}\{A(1) = 1 | A(0) = 1, L(1) = 0\} = \Pr_{ps}\{A(1) = 1 | A(0) = 1, L(1) = 1\} = 3/8, \\ \Pr_{ps}\{A(1) = 1 | A(0) = 0, L(1) = 0\} = \Pr_{ps}\{A(1) = 1 | A(0) = 0, L(1) = 1\} = 1/2.$$

Therefore, the causal DAG corresponding to the pseudo-population lacks the arrow L(1) to A(1). The absence of this arrow signifies that there is no confounding by L(1) in the pseudo-population and hence that adjustment by stratification is not necessary. That is,  $E_{ps}\{Y|A(0) = a(0), A(1) = a(1)\} = E_{ps}(Y_{\bar{a}=\{a(0),a(1)\}})$  in the pseudo-population. Thus, as shown in Table 23.4, we can collapse the pseudo-population data over L(1), obtain  $E_{ps}\{Y|A(0), A(1)\}$  for each of the four combinations of values of A(0) and A(1), and conduct an unadjusted analysis.

A(0)	L(1)	A(1)	N	Exp.	$f\{A(1) A(0)\}$	$f\{A(1) A(0), L(1)\}$	SW	N Pseudo-Pop.
0	1	0	2000	200	0.50	0.25	2	4000
0	1	1	6000	220	0.50	0.75	2/3	4000
0	0	0	6000	50	0.50	0.75	2/3	4000
0	0	1	2000	70	0.50	0.25	2	4000
1	1	0	3000	130	0.375	0.25	3/2	4500
1	1	1	9000	110	0.625	0.75	5/6	7500
1	0	0	3000	230	0.375	0.75	1/2	1500
1	0	1	1000	250	0.625	0.25	5/2	2500

 Table 23.3
 The Stabilized Pseudo-Population

Note: The column heading Exp. refers to  $E\{Y|A(0), L(1), A(1)\}$ .



Figure 23.4 Causal DAG in the pseudo-population simulated by IPTW.

For example, the direct effect of A(0) on the mean of Y when A(1) is set to 0 is  $E_{ps}\{Y|A(0) = 1, A(1) = 0\} - E\{Y|A(0) = 0, A(1) = 0\} = 155 - 125 = 30$ . As expected, the values of  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$  obtained by IPTW (i.e., the values of  $E_{ps}\{Y|A(0), A(1)\}$  in the pseudo-population) are equal to those obtained by the g-formula.

In this oversimplified example, we do not need to use models to estimate the inverse probability weights because they can be calculated easily by hand from the data. Also, we do not need models for the counterfactual means  $E\{Y_{\bar{a}}\}$  because these means can be calculated by hand. However, for pedagogic purposes, let us consider the saturated marginal structural mean model

$$E(Y_{\bar{a}}) = \eta_0 + \eta_1 a(0) + \eta_2 a(1) + \eta_3 a(0)a(1).$$

We can use the pseudo-population data to calculate the parameters  $\eta_0, \eta_1, \eta_2$ , and  $\eta_3$  because

$$E\{Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,0\}}\} = \eta_0,$$
  

$$E\{Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}}\} = \eta_0 + \eta_2,$$
  

$$E\{Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,0\}}\} = \eta_0 + \eta_1,$$
  

$$E\{Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}\} = \eta_0 + \eta_1 + \eta_2 + \eta_3$$

and, therefore, using the estimates for  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{a(0),a(1)\}})$  in Table 23.4,  $\eta_0 = 125$ ,  $\eta_1 = 30$ ,  $\eta_2 = 20$ , and  $\eta_3 = -30$ . This estimation procedure is equivalent to fitting linear model (23.4) to the observed study data by weighted least squares with each subject weighted by SW(e.g., **proc reg** with a **weight** statement in SAS). Because of confounding, the parameters  $\eta$  of the marginal structural mean model differ from the parameters  $\gamma$  of the associational mean model (23.4).

The parameters  $\eta$  can be used to test hypotheses about the joint effect of exposures A(0), A(1). For example, the hypothesis that A(0) has no direct effect on the mean of Y when A(1) is set to 1, that is,  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,1\}}) = E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,1\}})$ , implies  $\eta_0 + \eta_1 + \eta_2 + \eta_3 = \eta_0 + \eta_2$ . This would be true only if  $\eta_1 + \eta_3 = 0$ , which is the case. Similarly, the hypothesis that A(0) has no direct effect on the mean of Y when A(1) is set to 0,  $E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{1,0\}}) = E(Y_{\bar{a}=\{0,0\}})$ , implies  $\eta_0 + \eta_1 = \eta_0$ . This would be true only if  $\eta_1 = 0$ , which is not the case. Suppose that

**Table 23.4** The Stabilized Pseudo-Population Collapsed over L(1)

P		-(-)	
A(0)	A(1)	N	$E\{Y A(0), A(1)\}$
0 0 1 1	0 1 0 1		$ \begin{array}{rcl} 125 &= \theta_0 \\ 145 &= \theta_0 + \theta_2 \\ 155 &= \theta_0 + \theta_1 \\ 145 &= \theta_0 + \theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3 \end{array} $

we had fit the non-saturated misspecified marginal structural model

$$E(Y_{\bar{a}}) = \eta_0 + \eta_1 a(0) + \eta_2 a(1)$$

by weighted least squares with weights SW and then used the parameter estimates to estimate the counterfactual means  $E(Y_{\bar{a}})$ . Because of misspecification bias, these estimated means would have differed from those obtained from the saturated model and from the g-formula.

#### 23.4.7 Methods for dynamic regimes

#### 23.4.7.1 G-formula

The four regimes  $g = \{a(0), a(1)\}$  that we have compared constitute all possible combinations of fixed values of a(0) and a(1) and thus all possible static regimes in our example. We next consider dynamic regimes such as  $g = \{1, L(1)\}$ , which is the regime "always treat at time 0, treat at time 1 only if L(1) = 1." Note the same dynamic regime applied to different people may result in different exposure values. For example, the regime  $g = \{1, L(1)\}$  will be the regime  $\{1, 1\}$  for those subjects with L(1) = 1 under a(0) = 1, and  $g = \{1, 0\}$  for those with L(1) = 0 under a(0) = 1. The g-formula for the dynamic regime  $g = \{1, L(1)\}$  is the generalization of the g-formula for static regimes in which the exposure A(1) is set to 1 when L(1) = 1 and A(1) is set to 0 when L(1) = 0. In our example,

$$\begin{split} E(Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}}) =& E\{Y|A(0)=1,A(1)=1,L(1)=1\} \ \Pr\{L(1)=1|A(0)=1\} \\ &+ E\{Y|A(0)=1,A(1)=0,L(1)=0\} \ \Pr\{L(1)=0|A(0)=1\} \\ =& 110 \times \frac{12}{16} + 230 \times \frac{4}{16} = 140. \end{split}$$

The above formula can be written more succinctly as

$$E(Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}}) = \sum_{l(1)} E\{Y|A(0) = 1, A(1) = l(1), L(1) = l(1)\} \Pr\{L(1) = l(1)|A(0) = 1\}.$$

#### 23.4.7.2 IPTW

We now describe how to use IPTW for estimating the counterfactual means  $E(Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}})$ . The first step is to create an unstabilized pseudo-population by weighting the subjects in each row in Table 23.1 by the unstabilized weights  $W = 1/[f\{A(0)\}f\{A(1)|A(0), L(1)\}]$ . Note we use  $f\{A(0)\}$  rather than  $f\{A(0)|L(0)\}$  because in our study no potential confounder L(0) is present. Table 23.5 records the values of  $f\{A(0)\}, f\{A(1)|A(0), L(1)\}, W$ , and the number of subjects in the unstabilized pseudo-population.

Table 23.5 The Unstabilized Pseudo-Population

A(0)	L(1)	A(1)	N	Exp.	$f\{A(0)\}$	$f\{A(1) A(0), L(1)\}$	W	N Pseudo-Pop.
0	1	0	2000	200	0.50	0.25	8	16000
0	1	1	6000	220	0.50	0.75	8/3	16000
0	0	0	6000	50	0.50	0.75	8/3	16000
0	0	1	2000	70	0.50	0.25	8	16000
1	1	0	3000	130	0.50	0.25	8	24000
1	1	1	9000	110	0.50	0.75	8/3	24000
1	0	0	3000	230	0.50	0.75	8/3	8000
1	0	1	1000	250	0.50	0.25	8/3	8000

Note: Shorthand column headings are as in Table 23.3.

The IPTW estimate of  $E(Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}})$  is the average of Y among the subjects in the unstabilized pseudo-population who followed regime  $g = \{1, L(1)\}$ . Only the subjects with A(0) = 1, L(1) = 1, A(1) = 1 and A(0) = 1, L(1) = 0, A(1) = 0 followed  $g = \{1, L(1)\}$ . Thus,

$$E(Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}}) = \frac{24,000 \times 110 + 8000 \times 230}{32,000} = 140,$$

as was also obtained with the g-formula.

#### 23.4.7.3 G-estimation

G-estimation of structural nested models is a third method for estimation of counterfactual means. The "g-" indicates that g-estimation, like the g-formula, is a general method that can be further used to estimate counterfactual means  $E(Y_g)$  under any static or dynamic regime g. We begin with a saturated locally rank-preserving SNM for our example. The model has one equation for each treatment time with one unknown parameter  $\beta_0^*$  in the time 0 equation and a vector  $\beta_1^*$  of four unknown parameters in the time 1 equation:

$$Y_{g=\{a(0),0\}} = Y_{g=\{0,0\}} + \beta_0^* a(0)$$

$$Y_{g=\{a(0),a(1)\}} = Y_{g=\{a(0),0\}} + \beta_{1,1}^* a(1) + \beta_{1,2}^* a(1) L_{g=\{a(0)\}}(1) + \beta_{1,3}^* a(1) a(0)$$

$$+ \beta_{1,4}^* a(1) a(0) L_{g=\{a(0)\}}(1)$$
(23.6)

By evaluating Equation (23.5) at a(0) = 1, we see the parameter  $\beta_0^* = Y_{g=\{1,0\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}}$ represents the subject-specific direct effect of treatment a(0) on the outcome when treatment a(1) is withheld (i.e., set to zero). Under our model, this direct effect  $\beta_0^*$  is exactly the same for every subject. Thus, if  $Y_{g=\{0,0\}}$  for subject *i* exceeds  $Y_{g=\{0,0\}}$  for subject *j*, the same ranking of *i* and *j* will hold for  $Y_{g=\{1,0\}}$ ; the model preserves ranks across regimes, and we therefore refer to Equation (23.5) as a rank-preserving model.

The four parameters  $\beta_1^*$  in (23.6) parameterize the effect of an a(1) on Y within the four possible levels of past treatment and covariate history. For example,  $\beta_{1,1}^*$  and  $\beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,2}^*$  are, respectively, the effect of a(1) on Y when a(0) is withheld among the subset of subjects with  $L_{g=\{0\}}(1) = 0$  and the subset with  $L_{g=\{0\}}(1) = 1$ . Here,  $L_{g=\{0\}}(1)$  is the counterfactual value of L(1) when a(0) is withheld. If  $\beta_{1,1}^*$  and  $\beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,2}^*$  are of opposite sign, then there is a qualitative modification by L(1) of the effect a(1) on Y when a(0) is withheld. Similarly  $\beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,3}^*$  and  $\beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,3}^* + \beta_{1,4}^*$  are the effect of a(1) when a(0) is taken among the subset of subjects with  $L_{g=\{1\}}(1) = 0$  and the subset with  $L_{g=\{1\}}(1) = 1$ , respectively. If they are of different sign, there is a qualitative modification by L(1) of the effect of a(1) on Y when a(0) is taken. Thus, an SNM models the degree to which the effect of current treatment is modified by past treatment and past time-dependent covariate history. In contrast, non-dynamic MSMs can only model effect modification by baseline covariates V, a subset of L(0).

Finally, we note that if  $Y_{g=\{1,0\}}$  for subject *i* exceeds  $Y_{g=\{1,0\}}$  for subject *j*, we can only be certain that  $Y_{g=\{1,1\}}$  for subject *i* also exceeds  $Y_{g=\{1,1\}}$  for subject *j*, if both have the same values of  $L_{g=(1)}$ . Because the preservation of the ranking on the counterfactual *Y* depends on local factors (i.e., the value  $L_{g=(1)}$ ), we refer to Equation (23.6) as a locally rank-preserving model.

We next describe how we can estimate the parameters under the assumption of conditional exchangeability. We then show how to use our parameter estimates to estimate  $E(Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}})$ .

*G*-estimation of the parameters under conditional exchangeability. We begin by estimating the parameter vector  $\beta_1^*$ . To do so, in Table 23.6 we first use the SNM to calculate the mean of  $Y_{\{A(0),0\}}$  in terms of the unknown parameter vector  $\beta_1^*$ . To help understand these

A(0)	L(1)	A(1)	N	Y	$Y_{\{A(0),0\}}$	$Y_{\{0,0\}}$
0	1	0	2000	200	200	200
0	1	1	6000	220	$220 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,2}^*$	$220 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,2}^*$
0	0	0	6000	50	50	50
0	0	1	2000	70	$70 - \beta_{1,1}^*$	$70 - \beta_{1,1}^*$
1	1	0	3000	130	130	$130 - \beta_0^*$
1	1	1	9000	110	$110 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,2}^*$	$110 - \beta_0^* - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,2}^*$
					$-\beta_{1,3}^* - \beta_{1,4}^*$	$-eta_{1,3}^* - eta_{1,4}^*$
1	0	0	3000	230	230	$230 - \beta_0^*$
1	0	1	1000	250	$250 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,3}^*$	$250 - \beta_0^* - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,3}^*$

 Table 23.6
 The g-estimation procedure

calculations, consider the expression  $220 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,2}^*$  for the mean of  $Y_{\{A(0),0\}} = Y_{\{0,0\}}$ among subjects with A(0) = 0, L(1) = 1, A(1) = 1 in the second data row of Table 23.6. By consistency, the observed L(1) of 1 equals  $L_{g=\{0\}}(1)$  and the observed mean 220 of Y is the mean of  $Y_{g=\{0,1\}}$ . By solving (23.6) for  $Y_{g=\{0,0\}}$  after substituting  $\{0,1\}$  for  $\{a(0),a(1)\}$  and 1 for  $L_{g=\{a(0)\}}(1)$ , we obtain  $220 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,2}^*$  upon taking means.

We now estimate  $\beta_1^*$  under the assumption of conditional exchangeability. Conditional exchangeability implies that (i)  $Y_{g=\{0,0\}} \amalg A(0)$  and (ii)  $Y_{\{a(0),0\}} \amalg A(1) | A(0) = a(0), L(1) = l(1)$ . Now condition (ii) implies that, within any of the four joint strata of  $\{A(0), L(1)\}$ , the mean of  $Y_{\{A(0),0\}}$  among subjects with A(1) = 1 is equal to the mean among subjects with A(1) = 0. Consider first the stratum  $\{A(0), L(1)\} = (0, 0)$ . From data rows 3 and 4 in Table 23.6, we find that the mean when A(1) = 0 is 50 and when A(1) = 1 is  $70 - \beta_{1,1}^*$ . Hence,  $\beta_{1,1}^* = 20$ . Next we equate the means of  $Y_{\{A(0),0\}}$  in data rows 1 and 2 corresponding to stratum  $\{A(0), L(1)\} = (0, 1)$  to obtain  $200 = 220 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,2}^*$ . Since  $\beta_{1,1}^* = 20$ , we conclude  $\beta_{1,2}^* = 0$ .

Continuing, we equate the means of  $Y_{\{A(0),0\}}$  in data rows 7 and 8 to obtain 230 =  $250 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,3}^*$ . Because  $\beta_{1,1}^* = 20$ , we conclude  $\beta_{1,3}^* = 0$ . Finally, equating the means of  $Y_{\{A(0),0\}}$  in data rows 5 and 6, we obtain 130 =  $110 - \beta_{1,1}^* - \beta_{1,2}^* - \beta_{1,3}^* - \beta_{1,4}^*$ , so  $130 = 110 - 20 - \beta_{1,4}^*$ . Thus,  $\beta_{1,4}^* = -40$ .

To estimate  $\beta_0^*$ , we first substitute  $\beta_{1,1}^* = 20$ ,  $\beta_{1,2}^* = \beta_{1,3}^* = 0$ , and  $\beta_{1,4}^* = -40$  into the expressions for the mean of  $Y_{\{A(0),0\}}$  in Table 23.6. We then use (23.5) to obtain the mean of  $Y_{\{0,0\}}$  for each data row in Table 23.6 by subtracting  $\beta_0^*A(0)$  from the mean of  $Y_{\{A(0),0\}}$ . Now our assumption  $Y_{\{0,0\}} \amalg A(0)$  implies that the means of  $Y_{\{0,0\}}$  among the 16,000 subjects with A(0) = 1 and the 16,000 subjects with A(0) = 0 are identical. The means among subjects with A(0) = 0 and those with A(0) = 1 are

$$200 \times \frac{8000}{16,000} + 50 \times \frac{8000}{16,000} = 125 \text{ and } 130 \times \frac{12,000}{16,000} + 230 \times \frac{4000}{16,000} - \beta_0^* = 155 - \beta_0^*,$$

respectively. Hence,  $\beta_0^* = 30$ . This method of estimation is referred to as g-estimation.

Estimation of  $E(Y_g)$  using locally rank-preserving nested structural models. We now use the above results to estimate various counterfactual population means. Because 125 is the mean of  $Y_{g=\{0,0\}}$  both in subjects with A(0) = 0 and A(0) = 1, we conclude that the population mean  $E(Y_{g=\{0,0\}})$  is 125. Further, by (23.5), we have  $E(Y_{g=\{1,0\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}}) = \beta_0^* = 30$ . Thus,  $E(Y_{g=\{1,0\}}) = E(Y_{g=\{0,0\}}) + \beta_0^* = 125 + 30 = 155$ .

Next, by (23.6), we obtain  $E(Y_{g=\{0,1\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}}) = E\{\beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,2}^* L_{g=\{0\}}(1)\} = \beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,2}^* E\{L_{g=\{0\}}(1)\} = \beta_{1,1}^* = 20$ , as  $\beta_{1,2}^* = 0$ . Hence,  $E(Y_{g=\{0,1\}}) = 145$ . By (23.6), we have  $E(Y_{g=\{1,1\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}}) = E\{\beta_0^* + \beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,3}^* + (\beta_{1,2}^* + \beta_{1,4}^*) L_{g=(1)}(1)\} = 30 + 20 + (-40)E\{L_{g=(1)}(1)\}$ . We conclude that knowledge of the parameters of our SNM is not sufficient to estimate  $E(Y_{g=\{1,1\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}})$ . We also need to know  $E\{L_{g=\{1\}}(1)\}$ . But, as

noted previously,  $E\{L_{g=\{1\}}(1)\} = E\{L(1)|A(0) = 1\} = 3/4$ , as association is causation for the effect of A(0) on L(1). Thus,  $E(Y_{g=\{1,1\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}}) = 30 + 20 - 40 \times 3/4 = 20$ , so  $E(Y_{g=\{1,1\}}) = 145$ .

Finally, to obtain  $E(Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}})$ , we note that  $Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}} = Y_{g=\{1,1\}}$  if  $L_{g=\{1\}}(1) = 1$ and  $Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}} = Y_{g=\{1,0\}}$  if  $L_{g=\{1\}}(1) = 0$ . Thus, in the three quarters of subjects with  $L_{g=\{1\}}(1) = 1$ ,  $Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}} = Y_{g=\{1,1\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}} = \beta_0^* + \beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,3}^* + \beta_{1,2}^* + \beta_{1,4}^* = 30 + 20 - 40 = 10$ . In the one quarter of subjects with  $L_{g=\{1\}}(1) = 0$ ,  $Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}} = Y_{g=\{1,0\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}} = \beta_0^* = 30$ . Thus, the mean of  $Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}} - Y_{g=\{0,0\}} = 10 \times 3/4 + 30 \times 1/4 = 15$ . Hence,  $E(Y_{g=\{1,L(1)\}}) = 125 + 15 = 140$ .

All of these results agree with those obtained by the g-formula and by IPTW.

Estimation of  $E(Y_g)$  without local rank preservation. We noted above that local rankpreservation implies that the direct effect of treatment A(0) on the outcome when treatment A(1) is withheld is the same for each subject. This assumption is clearly biologically implausible in view of between-subject heterogeneity in unmeasured genetic and environmental background risks. To overcome this limitation, we consider a saturated structural nested mean model (SNMM) that assumes

$$E(Y_{g=\{a(0),0\}}) = E(Y_{g=\{0,0\}}) + \beta_0^* a(0) \text{ and}$$

$$E\{Y_{g=\{a_0,a_1\}} | L(1) = l(1), A(0) = a(0)\} = E\{Y_{g=\{a_0,0\}} | L(1) = l(1), A(0) = a(0)\}$$

$$+\beta_{1,1}^* a(1) + \beta_{1,2}^* a(1)l(1) + \beta_{1,3}^* a(1)a(0) + \beta_{1,4}^* a(1)a(0)l(1).$$

\_\_\_\_\_

This is a model for unconditional and conditional average treatment effects and thus is totally agnostic as to the question of whether or not there is between-subject heterogeneity in the effect of treatment. Nonetheless, Robins (1994, 1997b) has proved that the previous estimates of the parameters  $\beta_0^*$  and  $\beta_1^*$  and the means  $E(Y_g)$  obtained with g-estimation remain valid under the SNMM, provided the strengthened identifiability conditions hold.

#### 23.5 G-estimation in practice and the choice among g-methods

#### 23.5.1 G-estimation of unsaturated structural nested mean models

\_ /- -

In practice, we need to combine information from many different regimes to estimate a given  $E(Y_g)$ . To accomplish this goal, we shall fit an unsaturated additive SNMM by g-estimation.

The general form of an additive SNMM is as follows. Let  $\underline{0}(m)$  indicate giving treatment 0 at each treatment time  $m, m + 1 \dots, K$  for any  $m = 0, \dots, K$ . For each  $m = 0, \dots, K$ ,

$$E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),a(m),\underline{0}(m+1)\}} | \overline{L}_{\overline{a}(m-1)}(m) = \overline{l}(m), \overline{A}(m-1) = \overline{a}(m-1)\} \\ = E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}} | \overline{L}_{\overline{a}(m-1)}(m) = \overline{l}(m), \overline{A}(m-1) = \overline{a}(m-1)\} \\ + a(m)\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\},$$
(23.7)

where (i)  $g = \{\overline{a}(m-1), a(m), \underline{0}(m+1)\}$  and  $g = \{\overline{a}(m-1), \underline{0}(m)\}$  are non-dynamic regimes that differ only in that the former has treatment a(m) at m while the latter has treatment 0 at time m, while both have treatment  $\overline{a}(m-1)$  through m-1 and treatment 0 from m+1 to the end of follow-up K; (ii)  $\beta^*$  is an unknown parameter vector; and (iii)  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$  is a known function satisfying  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),0\}=0$  so  $\beta^*=0$ under the null hypothesis of no effect of treatment.

Thus, the SNMM  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$  models the effect on the mean of Y of a last blip of treatment of magnitude a(m) at m, as a function of (i.e., as modified by) past treatment and covariate history  $\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m)\}$ . Further, it follows from the consistency condition that we could have replaced  $\overline{L}_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1)\}}(m) = l(m)$  by  $\overline{L}(m) = \overline{l}(m)$  in the conditioning event. In the example of the previous section, we have K = 1,  $\gamma_1\{\overline{a}(0), \overline{l}(1), \beta^*\} = \beta^*_{1,1} + \beta^*_{1,2}l(1) + \beta^*_{1,3}a(0) + \beta^*_{1,4}a(0)l(1)$  and  $\gamma_0\{\overline{a}(-1), \overline{l}(0), \beta^*\} = \beta^*_0$ , because  $\overline{l}(0)$  and  $\overline{a}(-1)$  can both be taken to be identically 0. Other possible choices of  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta\}$  include (i)  $\beta$ , (ii)  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 m$ , and (iii)  $\beta_0 + \beta_1 m + \beta_2 a(m-1) + \beta^T_3 l(m) + \beta^T_4 l(m)a(m-1)$ .

In model (i), the effect of a last blip of treatment a(m) is the same for all m. Under model (ii), the effect varies linearly with the time m of treatment. Under model (iii), the effect of a last blip of treatment at m is modified by past treatment and covariate history.

We next describe the g-estimation algorithm for estimating the unknown parameter  $\beta^*$ in an observational study under the assumptions of conditional exchangeability and consistency. We note that, to fit an unsaturated SNMM by g-estimation, we do not require positivity to hold.

Fit a pooled logistic regression model

$$logit[Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}] = \alpha^T W(m)$$
(23.8)

for the probability of treatment at time (i.e., week) m for  $m = 0, \ldots, K$ . Here,  $W(m) = w_m\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  is a vector of covariates calculated from a subject's covariate and treatment data  $\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}, \alpha^T$  is a row vector of unknown parameters, and each person-week is treated as an independent observation so each person contributes K + 1 observations. An example of  $W(m) = w_m\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  would be the transpose of the row vector  $m, A(m-1), L^T(m), A(m-1)L^T(m), A(m-2), L^T(m-1), L^T(m)A(m-1)A(m-2)$ , where L(m) is the vector of covariates measured at time m. Let  $\hat{\alpha}$  be the maximum likelihood estimator of  $\alpha$ . (In a sequentially randomized experiment, the preceding step is not required because  $\Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  is known and would not need to be estimated.)

Next, define

$$Y_m(\beta) = Y - \sum_{j=m}^{K} A(j)\gamma_j \{\overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j), \beta\}.$$

Note that, for each  $\beta$ ,  $Y_m(\beta)$  can be computed from the observed data. For the moment, assume, as in model (i) above, that  $\beta$  is one-dimensional. Let  $\beta_{\text{low}}$  and  $\beta_{\text{up}}$  be much smaller and larger, respectively, than any substantively plausible value of  $\beta^*$ .

Then, separately, for each  $\beta$  on a grid from  $\beta_{\text{low}}$  to  $\beta_{\text{up}}$ , say  $\beta_{\text{low}}$ ,  $\beta_{\text{low}} + 0.1$ ,  $\beta_{\text{low}} + 0.2$ , ...,  $\beta_{\text{up}}$ , perform the score test of the hypothesis  $\theta = 0$  in the extended logistic model

$$logit[Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1), Y_m(\beta)\}] = \alpha^T W(m) + \theta Y_m(\beta)$$
(23.9)

that adds the covariate  $Y_m(\beta)$  at each time m to the above pooled logistic model. A 95% confidence interval for  $\beta^*$  is the set of  $\beta$  for which an  $\alpha = 0.05$  two-sided score test of the hypothesis  $\theta = 0$  does not reject. The g-estimate of  $\beta^*$  is the value of  $\beta$  for which the score test takes the value 0 (i.e., the *p*-value is 1).

A heuristic argument for the validity of the g-estimation algorithm is as follows. Under a locally rank-preserving model, if  $\beta$  was equal to  $\beta^*$ ,  $Y_m(\beta)$  would equal the counterfactual  $Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}$  in which a subject takes his actual treatment prior to m but no treatment from time m onwards, as shown in the previous section. But, under conditional exchangeability,  $Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}$  and A(m) are conditionally independent given past covariate and treatment history  $\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)$ . That is,  $Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}$  is not a predictor of A(m) given  $\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$ , which implies that the coefficient  $\theta$  of  $Y_m(\beta)$  must be zero in the model (23.9) when  $\beta = \beta^*$ , provided the model logit  $[\Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}] = \alpha^T W(m)$  is correctly specified.

Now, we do not know the true value of  $\beta$ . Therefore, any value  $\beta$  for which the data are consistent with the parameter  $\theta$  of the term  $\theta Y_m(\beta)$  being zero might be the true  $\beta^*$ , and thus belongs in our confidence interval. If consistency with the data is defined at the 0.05

level, then our confidence interval will have coverage of 95%. Furthermore, the g-estimate  $\hat{\beta}$  of  $\beta^*$  is that  $\beta$  for which adding the term  $\theta Y_m(\beta)$  does nothing to help to predict A(m) whatsoever, which is the  $\beta$  for which the score test of  $\theta = 0$  is precisely zero. The g-estimate  $\hat{\beta}$  is also the value of  $\beta$  for which the maximum likelihood estimate of  $\theta$  in model (23.9) is precisely zero.

It may appear peculiar that a function  $Y_m(\beta)$  of the response Y measured at the end of follow-up is being used to predict treatment A(m) at earlier times. However, this peculiarity evaporates when one recalls that, for each  $\beta$  on our grid, we are testing the null hypothesis that  $\beta = \beta^*$  and, under this null and a rank-preserving model,  $Y_m(\beta)$  is the counterfactual  $Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}$ , which we can view as already existing at time m (although we cannot observe its value until time K and then only if treatment in the actual study is withheld from m onwards).

The above arguments are heuristic in the sense that their validity relies on the assumption of local rank-preservation, which is biologically implausible. Nevertheless, Robins (1994, 1997b) proves that the g-estimation algorithm is valid even in the absence of local rank preservation, provided that conditional exchangeability and consistency hold.

Suppose now that the parameter  $\beta$  is a vector. To be concrete, suppose we consider the model with  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 m + \beta_2 a(m-1) + \beta_3 l(m) + \beta_4 l(m) a(m-1)$ , so  $\beta$  is five-dimensional, l(m) is one-dimensional, and we would use a five-dimensional grid, one dimension for each component of  $\beta$ . So if we had 20 grid points for each component, we would have  $20^5$  different values of  $\beta$  on our five-dimensional grid. Now, to estimate five parameters, one requires five additional covariates. Specifically, let  $Q_m = q_m\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  be a five-dimensional vector of functions of  $\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)$ , such as  $q_m^T\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\} = \{1, m, A(m-1), L(m), L(m)A(m-1)\}$ . We use an extended model that includes five linear functions  $Q_m Y_m(\beta)$  of  $Y_m(\beta)$  as covariates, such as

$$\operatorname{logit}[\Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1), Y_m(\beta)\}] = \alpha^T W(m) + \theta^T Q_m Y_m(\beta).$$

The particular choice of the functions  $Q_m = q_m\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  does not affect the consistency of the point estimator, but it determines the width of its confidence interval. See Robins (1994) for the optimal choice of  $Q_m$ .

Our g-estimate  $\hat{\beta}$  is the  $\beta$  for which the five-degrees-of-freedom score test that all five components of  $\theta$  equal zero is precisely zero. A 95% joint confidence interval for  $\beta$  is the set of  $\beta$  on our five-dimensional grid for which the five-degrees-of-freedom score test does not reject at the 5% level. Such an interval is computationally demanding. A less demanding approach is to use a Wald interval  $\hat{\beta}_j \pm 1.96 \operatorname{SE}(\hat{\beta}_j)$  for each component  $\beta_j$  of  $\beta$  centered at its g-estimate  $\hat{\beta}_j$ . This gives a univariate 95% large-sample confidence interval for each  $\beta_j$ . (A simultaneous, i.e., joint, 95% large-sample confidence interval for all  $\beta_j$  requires a constant greater than 1.96 in the Wald interval.)

When the dimension of  $\beta$  is greater than 2, finding  $\hat{\beta}$  by search over a grid is generally computationally prohibitive. However, when, as in all the examples we have discussed,  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\} = \beta^T R_m$  is linear in  $\beta$  with  $R_m = r_m\{\overline{L}(m),\overline{A}(m-1)\}$  a vector of known functions, then, given the estimator of  $\Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  expit $\{\hat{\alpha}^T W(m)\}$ , where  $\exp(u) = \exp(u)/\{1 + \exp(u)\}$ , there is an explicit closed-form expression for  $\hat{\beta}$  given by

$$\widehat{\beta} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1,m=0}^{i=N,m=K} X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha}) Q_{im} S_{im}^T \right\}^{-1} \left\{ \sum_{i=1,m=0}^{i=N,m=K} Y_i X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha}) Q_{im} \right\},$$

where  $X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha}) = \{A_i(m) - \text{expit}\{\widehat{\alpha}^T W_i(m)\}\}, S_{im} = \sum_{j=m}^{j=K} A_i(j)R_{ij}$ , and the choice of  $Q_{im} = q_m\{\overline{L}_i(m), \overline{A}_i(m-1)\}$  affects efficiency but not consistency. In fact, in the case

where  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\} = \beta^T R_m$  is linear in  $\beta$ , we can obtain a closed-form doubly robust estimator  $\widetilde{\beta}$  of  $\beta^*$  by specifying a working model  $\varsigma^T D_m = \varsigma^T d_m\{\overline{L}(m),\overline{A}(m-1)\}$  for  $E\{Y_m(\beta^*)|\overline{L}(m),\overline{A}(m-1)\} = E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}|\overline{L}(m),\overline{A}(m-1)\}$  and defining

$$\begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\beta}} \\ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\varsigma}} \end{pmatrix} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1,m=0}^{i=N,m=K} \begin{pmatrix} X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha})Q_{im} \\ D_{im} \end{pmatrix} (S_{im}^T, D_{im}^T) \right\}^{-1} \\ \times \left\{ \sum_{i=1,m=0}^{i=N,m=K} Y_i \begin{pmatrix} X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha})Q_{im} \\ D_{im} \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$

Specifically,  $\tilde{\beta}$  will be a consistent and asymptotically normal (CAN) estimator of  $\beta^*$  if either the model  $\varsigma^T D_m$  for  $E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}|\overline{L}(m),\overline{A}(m-1)\}$  is correct or the model  $\alpha^T W(m)$  for logit[ $\Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$ ] is correct.

#### 23.5.2 Monte Carlo estimation of $E(Y_q)$ after g-estimation of an SNMM

Suppose the strengthened identifiability assumptions hold, one has obtained a doubly robust g-estimator  $\tilde{\beta}$  of an SNMM  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$ , and one wishes to estimate  $E(Y_g)$  for a given static or dynamic regime g. To do so, one can use the following steps of a Monte Carlo algorithm:

- 1. Estimate the mean response  $E(Y_{g=\overline{0}_{K}})$  had treatment always been withheld by the sample average of  $Y_{0}(\widetilde{\beta})$  over the N study subjects. Call the estimate  $\widehat{E}(Y_{g=\overline{0}_{K}})$ .
- 2. Fit a parametric model for  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k-1)\}$  to the data, pooled over persons and times, and denote the estimate of  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k-1)\}$  under the model by  $\widehat{f}\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k-1)\}$ .
- 3. For  $v = 1, \ldots, V$ , do the following:
  - (a) Draw  $l_v(0)$  from  $\widehat{f}\{l(0)\}$ .
  - (b) Recursively for k = 1, ..., K, draw  $l_v(k)$  from  $\widehat{f}\{l(k)|\overline{a}_v(k-1), \overline{l}_v(k-1)\}$  with  $\overline{a}_v(k-1) = \overline{g}_{k-1}\{\overline{l}_v(k-1)\}$ , the treatment history corresponding to the regime g.
  - (c) Let  $\widehat{\Delta}_{g,v} = \sum_{j=0}^{K} a_v(j) \gamma_j \{ \overline{a}_v(j-1), \overline{l}_v(j), \widetilde{\beta} \}$  be the *v*th Monte Carlo estimate of  $Y_g Y_{g=\overline{0}_K}$ , where  $a_v(j) = g_j \{ \overline{l}_v(j-1) \}$ .
- 4. Let  $\widehat{E}(Y_g) = \widehat{E}(Y_{g=\overline{0}_K}) + \sum_{v=1}^{V} \widehat{\Delta}_{g,v}/V$  be the estimate of  $\widehat{E}(Y_g)$ .

If the model for  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k-1)\}$ , the SNMM  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$ , and either the treatment model logit[ $\Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$ ] =  $\alpha^{*T}W_m$  or the model  $E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}|\overline{L}(m),\overline{A}(m-1)\} = \varsigma^{*T}D_m$  is correctly specified, then  $\widehat{E}(Y_g)$  is consistent for  $E(Y_g)$ . Confidence intervals can be obtained using the non-parametric bootstrap.

Our approach based on g-estimation does not suffer from the null paradox. In fact, under the null hypothesis of no treatment effect, it is the case that misspecification of the model for  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k-1)\}$  does not result in bias. To understand why, note that, under the null, any SNMM  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$  is correctly specified with  $\beta^* = 0$  being the true parameter and  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\} = 0$ . Thus,  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\widetilde{\beta}\}$  will converge to 0 if  $\widetilde{\beta}$  is consistent for  $\beta^* = 0$ , that is, if either the treatment model or the model for  $E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}|\overline{L}(m),\overline{A}(m-1)\}$  is correct. Thus,  $\widehat{\Delta}_{g,v}$  will converge to zero and  $\widehat{E}(Y_g)$  to  $\widehat{E}(Y_{g=\overline{0}_K})$ , even if the model for  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1),\overline{l}(k-1)\}$  is incorrect. We conclude that,

under the null, all we require for valid inference is that the conditional exchangeability and consistency assumptions hold and we either know (as in a sequentially randomized experiment)  $\Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  or have a correct model for either  $\Pr\{A(m) = 1\}$  $1|\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  or  $E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1), \underline{0}(m)\}}|\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}.$ Suppose that there is no effect modification by past covariate history, as with the SNMM

$$\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1), l(m), \beta\} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 m + \beta_2 a(m-1) + \beta_3 a(m-2) + \beta_4 a(m-1)a(m-2).$$
(23.10)

Then we can write  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$  as  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\beta\}$ . In that case, to estimate  $E(Y_{g=(\overline{a})})$  for any non-dynamic regime  $\overline{a}$ , we do not need to use the above Monte Carlo algorithm to simulate the L(k). Rather

$$\widehat{E}(Y_{g=\overline{a}}) = \widehat{E}(Y_{g=\overline{0}_{K}}) + \sum_{k=0}^{K} a(k)\gamma_{k}\{\overline{a}(k-1),\widetilde{\beta}\}.$$

However, if one wants to estimate  $E(Y_q)$  for a dynamic regime, the previous Monte Carlo algorithm is required.

In fact, an SNMM is an MSM if and only if for all  $\overline{a}(m-1)$ ,  $\overline{l}(m)$ , and  $\beta$ ,

$$\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta\} = \gamma_m[\overline{a}(m-1), \beta\}.$$
(23.11)

Specifically, it is a non-dynamic MSM with the functional form

$$E(Y_{g=\overline{a}}) = \eta_0^* + \sum_{k=0}^K a(k)\gamma_k\{\overline{a}(k-1), \beta^*\} \text{ does not depend on } \overline{l}(m),$$
(23.12)

where  $E(Y_{q=\overline{0}_{K}}) = \eta_{0}^{*}$ . However, such an SNMM model is not simply an MSM because, in addition to (23.12), it also imposes the additional strong assumption (23.11) that effect modification by past covariate history is absent. In contrast, an MSM such as (23.12) is agnostic as to whether or not there is effect modification by time-varying covariates.

If we specify an SNMM that assumes (23.11), then we can estimate  $\beta^*$  either by gestimation or IPTW. However, the most efficient g-estimator will be more efficient than the most efficient IPTW estimator when the SNMM (and thus the MSM) is correctly specified because g-estimation uses the additional assumption of no effect modification by past covariates to increase efficiency.

In contrast, suppose the MSM (23.12) is correct but the SNMM (23.10) is incorrect because assumption (23.11) does not hold. Then the g-estimators of  $\beta^*$  and  $E(Y_{q=\overline{q}})$  will be biased, while the IPTW estimates remain unbiased. Thus, we have a classic variance-bias trade-off. Given the MSM (23.12), g-estimation can increase efficiency if (23.11) is correct, but introduces bias if (23.11) is incorrect.

#### 23.5.3 Time-varying instrumental variables and g-estimation

Suppose that, at each week m, we obtain data both on whether a drug treatment of interest was prescribed by a subject's physician and on whether or not the subject actually took the drug, based on a blood test, say. We assume that both variables are binary and let  $A_n(m)$  and  $A_d(m)$ , respectively, denote the treatment prescribed and taken in week m. We define  $A(m) = \{A_n(m), A_d(m)\}$ . Now, in many settings it might be reasonable to assume that we had conditional exchangeability with respect to the prescribed treatment but not with respect to the actual treatment because the covariates influencing a physician's prescriptions have been recorded in the medical record, while the reasons why a given patient does or does not comply with his physician's advice may depend on unmeasured patient characteristics that also directly affect the outcome Y. Thus, we only assume that, for all  $\overline{a}, \overline{l}(t)$ ,

$$Y_{\overline{a}} \amalg A_p(t) | \overline{A}(t-1) = \overline{a}(t-1), \overline{L}(t) = \overline{l}(t).$$
(23.13)

If we had (joint) conditional exchangeability for both  $A_p(m)$  and  $A_d(m)$ , the SNMM (23.7) would be precisely equivalent to the SNMM

$$E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),a(m),\underline{0}(m+1)\}} | \overline{L}_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1)\}}(m) = \overline{l}(m), \overline{A}(m) = \overline{a}(m)\}$$

$$= E\{Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}} | \overline{L}_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1)\}}(m) = \overline{l}(m), \overline{A}(m) = \overline{a}(m)\}$$

$$+ a(m)\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta^*\}$$
(23.14)

that adds A(m) = a(m) to the conditioning event on both sides of (23.7). However, when only conditional exchangeability for  $A_p(m)$  holds as in (23.13), the two models differ. It is only model (23.14) whose parameters can remain identified under the sole restriction given in (23.13). Specifically, given the SNMM (23.14), we can estimate the parameter  $\beta^*$  by g-estimation as above, except that, now, we replace the models for both logit [Pr{A(m) = $1|\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)$ ] and logit [Pr{ $A(m) = 1|\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1), Y_m(\beta)$ ] by, respectively, models for logit [Pr{ $A_p(m) = 1|\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)$ ] and logit [Pr{ $A_p(m) = 1|\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)$ ,  $Y_m(\beta)$ ]. This choice reflects the fact that it is only  $A_p(m)$  that is conditionally independent of the counterfactuals given { $\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)$ }, and thus only  $A_p(m)$  that can be used as the outcome variable in g-estimation.

Suppose we assume that the prescribed dose has no direct effect on the response Y except through the actual dose, that is, the counterfactual outcome  $Y_{\bar{a}} = Y_{\bar{a}_p,\bar{a}_d}$  only depends on  $\overline{a}_d$ . In this case, we can simply write  $Y_{\bar{a}}$  as  $Y_{\bar{a}_d}$ . This assumption is referred to as the exclusion restriction for  $\overline{a}_p$  relative to the effect of  $\overline{a}_d$  on Y. A variable such as  $\overline{a}_p$  that satisfies (23.13) and the exclusion restriction relative to the effect of  $\overline{a}_d$  on Y is said to be a time-dependent instrumental variable for the effect of treatment  $\overline{a}_d$  on Y. Under this assumption, we can replace  $a(m)\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$  by  $a_d(m)\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$  in (23.14). However, when conditional exchangeability with respect to the actual treatment  $A_d(m)$  does not hold,  $A_p(m)$  can still be a non-causal effect modifier; as a consequence, we cannot replace  $a(m)\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$  by  $a_d(m)\gamma_m\{\overline{a}_d(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$  in (23.14). In fact,  $A_p(m)$ can still be a non-causal effect modifier even if  $\overline{a}_p$  satisfies the stronger exclusion restriction of no direct effect of  $\overline{a}_p$  on either Y or  $\overline{L}$  (except through actual dose  $\overline{a}_d$ ), so both  $Y_{\overline{a}}$  and  $\overline{L}_{\overline{a}}$  only depend on  $\overline{a}_d$ . For example, in the SNMM

$$a(m)\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\} = a_d(m)\{\beta_0^* + \beta_1^*a_p(m-1) + \beta_2^{*T}a_p(m-1)l(m)\},\$$

it may still be the case that neither  $\beta_1^*$  nor  $\beta_2^{*T}$  is zero (Hernán and Robins, 2006b).

Furthermore, when conditional exchangeability with respect to the actual treatment  $A_d(m)$  does not hold, although the sample average of  $Y_0(\tilde{\beta})$  still is consistent for  $E(Y_{g=\overline{0}_K})$ , it is not possible to consistently estimate  $E(Y_g)$  for any other regime g, static or dynamic, without further untestable assumptions such as those in Theorems 8.8 and 8.10 of Robins, Rotnitzky, and Scharfstein (1999) and in Section 7 of Robins (2004).

#### 23.5.4 Dynamic and general SNMMs and MSMs

Both MSMs and SNMMs are models for non-dynamic regimes. Henceforth, we refer to them as non-dynamic MSMs and SNMMs. With the aid of a model for  $f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1), \overline{l}(k-1)\}$  and Monte Carlo simulation, we have seen that non-dynamic SNMMs can be used to estimate  $E(Y_g)$  for any regime, static or dynamic. Analogously, Robins (1999) shows that with the aid of a model for particular aspects of  $f\{y|\overline{a}(K),\overline{l}(K)\}\prod_{k=0}^{K}f\{l(k)|\overline{a}(k-1), \overline{l}(k-1)\}$  and simulation, non-dynamic MSMs can also be used to estimate the mean  $E(Y_g)$  of any dynamic regime. However, for non-dynamic MSMs, this calculation is exceedingly difficult, requiring, as an intermediate step, that one solve many integral equations.

Modified versions of both SNMMs and MSMs, which we shall refer to as dynamic regime SNMMs and MSMs, can be used to directly estimate the means  $E(Y_g)$  of specific dynamic regimes without requiring the aid of alternative models or simulation. A special case of a dynamic SNMM was considered by Murphy (2003). Robins (2004) built upon her work and introduced a comprehensive class of dynamic SNMMs. A simple dynamic MSM comparing two regimes was considered by Hernán et al. (2006). Dynamic MSMs in full generality were first introduced by Orellana, Rotnitzky, and Robins (2006) and, shortly thereafter, independently by van der Laan and Petersen (2007). Both built on earlier work by Robins (1993) and Murphy, van der Laan, and Robins (2001).

For pedagogic purposes, we shall be ahistorical and first discuss dynamic MSMs.

#### 23.5.4.1 Dynamic and general MSMs

We begin with a simplified version of an example considered by Orellana, Rotnitzky, and Robins (2006) and Robins et al. (2008). We consider an observational study of treatmentnaive subjects recently infected with HIV. Subjects return to clinic weekly to have various clinical and laboratory measurements made. Let L(t) be the vector of measurements made at week t, including CD4 cell count. We let A(t) denote the indicator of whether antiretroviral therapy is taken during week t. For simplicity, we assume that, once antiretroviral therapy is begun, it is never stopped. Let Y be a composite health outcome measured at the end of the study at time K + 1, higher values of which are preferable. Let g = x denote the dynamic regime "begin antiretroviral therapy the first time t the measured CD4 count falls below x," where x is measured in whole numbers less than 1000. Let  $\mathcal{X} = \{0, 1, \ldots, 999\}$ . Then  $\{g = x; x \in \mathcal{X}\}$  denotes the set of all such regimes. Consider the dynamic regime MSM

$$E(Y_{g=x}|V) = h(x, V, \beta^*)$$
(23.15)

for the conditional mean of the counterfactual  $Y_{g=x}$  given a subset V of the baseline covariates L(0), where

$$h(x, V, \beta) = h_1(x, V, \beta_1) + h_2(V, \beta_2), \qquad (23.16)$$

$$h_1(x, V, 0) = 0, (23.17)$$

so that  $\beta_1^* = 0$  is the null hypothesis that all regimes in  $\{g = x; x \in \mathcal{X}\}$  have the same mean given V.

As an example, for V binary, we might choose  $h_1(x, V, \beta_1) = \beta_1^T r(x, v)$ , where  $\beta_1^T r(x, v) = \beta_{1,1}(x-350) + \beta_{1,2}(x-350)^2 + \beta_{1,3}(x-350)^3 + \beta_{1,4}(x-350)V$  and  $h_2(V, \beta_2) = \beta_{2,1} + \beta_{2,2}V$ . Before describing how  $\beta^*$  can be estimated using standard weighted least-squares software, we require the following observations.

Consider a subject who started antiretroviral therapy at a CD4 cell count of 250 in week t whose lowest prior CD4 count was 300. Then this subject's observed data is consistent with having followed regime g = x for  $x = 251, 252, \ldots, 300$ . In fact the subject followed all of these regimes. Consider a subject who never started therapy and whose lowest CD4 count was 225. Then this subject followed regimes g = x for  $x = 0, 1, \ldots, 225$ . Finally, consider a subject who started antiretroviral therapy at a CD4 cell count of 250 in week t whose lowest previous CD4 count was less than 250. Then this subject failed to follow any regime in the set  $\{g = x; x \in \mathcal{X}\}$ . In contrast, for the non-dynamic MSM  $E(Y_{\overline{a}}|V) = h(\overline{a}, V, \beta^*)$ , each subject follows one and only one of the regimes whose means are being modeled — the regime  $\overline{a}$  corresponding to the subject's actual treatment history  $\overline{A}$ . It is this difference that makes estimation of a dynamic MSM a bit more involved than estimation of a non-dynamic MSM.

We are now ready to describe our fitting procedure. Let  $\Gamma_i$  be the number of regimes followed by subject *i*. We create an artificial data set of size  $\Gamma = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \Gamma_i$ , with each subject  $i = 1, \ldots, N$  contributing  $\Gamma_i$  artificial observations  $(Y_i, V_i, x_{i1}), (Y_i, V_i, x_{i2}), \ldots, (Y_i, V_i, x_{i\Gamma_i})$ , where the  $x_{ik}$  denote the regimes followed by subject *i*. We then fit by weighted least squares with an independence working covariance matrix the regression model

$$E(Y|x, V) = h(x, V, \gamma)$$

to the artificial data set using estimates of the weights

$$SW(x,V) = \prod_{k=0}^{K} \frac{f^*(x|V)}{f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)\}},$$

where  $f^*(x|V)$  is any user-supplied conditional density given V. For example, it could be an estimate of the density of x given V based on the artificial data set. Orellana, Rotnitzky, and Robins (2006) show that this IPTW estimator,  $\hat{\beta}$ , say, of  $\gamma$  based on the artificial data set converges to the parameter  $\beta^*$  of our dynamic MSM under the strengthened identifiability conditions. Orellana, Rotnitzky, and Robins (2006) also discuss how to construct more efficient estimators and doubly robust estimators. The optimal treatment regime in the class  $\{g = x; x \in \mathcal{X}\}$  for a subject with V = v is estimated as the value of x that maximizes  $h(x, v, \hat{\beta})$  or, equivalently,  $h_1(x, v, \hat{\beta}_1)$  over  $x \in \mathcal{X}$ .

The general case can be treated using the same notation. Specifically, given any set of regimes  $\{q = x; x \in \mathcal{X}\}$  (whether static, dynamic, or both) indexed by x taking values in a (possibly infinite) set X and an MSM (23.15) satisfying (23.16) and (23.17), we can proceed as above, except that, now, the index x need not be a real number, and a different calculation will be required to determine which regimes in  $\{g = x; x \in \mathcal{X}\}$  each study subject followed. For example, consider another HIV study where now subjects may repeatedly start and stop therapy, and consider the regimes "take therapy at t if and only if the current white blood count exceeds w and a certain liver function test has value less than b." Here, b and w are non-negative integers in the range 0 to 10,000. Then x = (w, b). An example of a choice for  $h_1(x, V, \beta_1)$  is  $\beta_{1,1}(b-100) + \beta_{1,2}(b-100)^2 + \beta_{1,3}(b-100)^3 + \beta_{1,4}(w-1000) + \beta_{1,5}(w-1000)^2 + \beta_{1,5}(w-1$  $\beta_{1,6}(b-100)V + \beta_{1,7}(w-1000)V + \beta_{1,8}(w-1000)(b-100)$ . Note that, from the perspective presented in this paragraph, the general case includes non-dynamic MSMs as a special case. Thus, we henceforth refer to model (23.15) as a general MSM, subsuming all previous MSM categories. However, we have only discussed examples where the number of regimes followed by any subject is finite. Orellana, Rotnitzky, and Robins (2006) extend these dynamic MSM methods to the case where that number is uncountable rather than finite.

*MSMs and the positivity condition.* Specifying a general MSM can also allow us to weaken positivity requirements. We say that the positivity assumption holds for a regime g if, for all t,

$$f_{\overline{A}(t-1),\overline{L}(t)}[\overline{g}_t\{\overline{l}(t-1)\},\overline{l}(t)] \neq 0 \text{ implies } f_{A(t)|\overline{A}(t-1),\overline{L}(t)}[g_t\{\overline{l}(t)\}|\overline{g}_t\{\overline{l}(t-1)\},\overline{l}(t)] > 0.$$

Then, for any regime  $g = x^*$  for which the positivity assumption fails, we simply remove any observation  $(Y, V, x^*)$  from the artificial data. We can then either interpret our MSM model as a model for  $E(Y_{g=x}|V), x \in \mathcal{X}_{\text{pos}} \subset \mathcal{X}$ , where  $x \in \mathcal{X}_{\text{pos}}$  if g = x satisfies positivity, or as a model for  $E(Y_{g=x}|V), x \in \mathcal{X}$ . In the latter case, one is identifying  $E(Y_{g=x^*}|V)$  for non-positive regimes  $g = x^*$  by model-based extrapolation.

Semi-linear MSMs. Recall that an SNMM was guaranteed to be correctly specified under the sharp null hypothesis of no treatment effect with true parameter value  $\beta^* = 0$ ; as a consequence, g-estimation of an SNMM always provides valid inferences in a sequentially randomized experiment when the sharp null holds. In contrast, the MSM (23.15) satisfying (23.16) and (23.17) is not guaranteed to be correctly specified under the sharp null whenever V is high-dimensional; under the sharp null,  $Y_{g=x} = Y$ ,  $\beta_1^* = 0$  so  $h_1(x, V, \beta_1^*) = 0$ , and thus the MSM reduces to  $E(Y|V) = h_2(V, \beta_2)$ . But the assumed functional form  $h_2(V, \beta_2)$  may be incorrect. Furthermore, the IPTW estimates of  $\beta_2$  and  $\beta_1$  are generally correlated. Thus, mispecification of the functional form  $h_2(V, \beta_2)$  can result in invalid inferences in a sequentially randomized experiment, even under the sharp null. To overcome this difficulty, we follow Robins (1999) and consider the semi-linear general MSM

$$E(Y_{q=x}|V) = h_1(x, V, \beta_1^*) + h_2^*(V),$$

with  $h_2^*(V)$  allowed to be an arbitrary unknown function, so as to prevent bias in the estimation of  $h_1(x, V, \beta_1^*)$  from misspecification of a parametric model for  $h_2^*(V)$ . The estimator  $\tilde{\beta}_1$  that sets to zero the sample average of

$$SW(x,V)\{Y - h_1(x,V,\beta_1^*)\}\{q(x,V) - \int q(x,V)dF^*(x|V)\}$$

over the  $\Gamma$  artificial data vectors (Y, V, x) can be shown to be a CAN estimator of  $\beta_1^*$  when the model  $h_1(x, V, \beta_1^*)$  is correct, guaranteeing valid inferences in a sequentially randomized experiment. Robins (1998, 1999) proved this result for non-dynamic MSMs, and Orellana, Rotnitzky, and Robins (2006) showed it for general MSMs. Orellana, Rotnitzky, and Robins (2006) also constructed locally efficient, doubly robust estimators of  $\beta_1^*$  in semilinear general MSMs.

In fact, when  $h_1(x, V, \beta_1) = \beta_1^T r(x, V)$  is linear in  $\beta_1$ , it is simple to trick standard weighted least-squares software into computing a CAN estimator of  $\beta_1^*$ . Specifically, we consider the model  $h(x, V, \beta) = \beta_1^T r(x, V) + h_2(V, \beta_2)$ , with  $h_2(V, \beta_2) = \beta_2^T R$ , where  $R = \sum_x r(x, V) f^*(x|V)$ . The first component  $\hat{\beta}_1$  of the aforementioned weighted least-squares estimator  $\hat{\beta} = (\hat{\beta}_1, \hat{\beta}_2)$  with estimated weights

$$\widehat{SW}(x,V) = \prod_{k=0}^{K} \frac{f^*(x|V)}{f\{A(k)|\overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k); \widehat{\alpha}\}}$$

applied to the artificial data is a CAN estimator of  $\beta_1^*$  when the model  $\alpha^T W(k)$  for logit[Pr{ $A(k) = 1 | \overline{A}(k-1), \overline{L}(k)$ }] is correct even when the model  $h_2(V, \beta_2) = \beta_2^T R$  for  $h_2^*(V)$  is incorrect.

In summary, following Robins (1999), we suggest, when possible, semi-linear general MSMs be substituted for general MSMs.

#### 23.5.4.2 General SNMMs and optimal regime SNMMs

In this section, for reasons discussed below, we need to explicitly consider regimes g in which the treatment  $g_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m)\}$  specified by the regime g at time m is allowed to depend on both past treatment history and past covariate history. Suppose we are interested in a particular such regime  $g^*$ . Then we define a  $g^*$ -SNMM to be a model for the effect of treatment a(m) versus treatment 0 at each time m (as a function of treatment and covariate history up to m) when treatment  $g^*$  is followed beginning at time m + 1. Let  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),a(m),g^*(m+1)\}}$  be the outcome Y under the regime that follows the non-dynamic regime  $\{\overline{a}(m-1),a(m)\}$  through week (time) m and then the regime  $g^*$  from m+1. Then a  $g^*$ -SNMM is defined exactly like the SNMM (23.7), except that  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),a(m),\underline{g}^*(m+1)\}}$ replaces  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),a(m),\underline{0}(m+1)\}}$  and  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),0,\underline{g}^*(m+1)\}}$  replaces  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),a(m),\underline{0}(m+1)\}}$  and  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),0,\underline{0}^*(m+1)\}}$  replaces  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),\underline{0}(m)\}}$ . Also, we write the known function  $\gamma_m\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$  as  $\gamma_m^{g^*}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$  to remind us we are now estimating a  $g^*$ -SNMM for a given regime  $g^*$ . Note that a  $g^*$ -SNMM with  $g^*$ the regime where treatment is always withheld is precisely the SNMM (23.7). To estimate the parameter  $\beta^*$  of  $\gamma_m^{g^*} \{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta^*\}$ , we use g-estimation as described previously except that we redefine  $Y_m(\beta)$  to be

$$Y_m(\beta) = Y + \sum_{j=m}^{K} [g_j^* \{ \overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j) \} - A(j)] \gamma_j^{g^*} \{ \overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j), \beta \}.$$
 (23.18)

Again we can motivate this modification by considering a locally rank-preserving version of the model. We say a  $g^*$ -SNMM model is locally rank-preserving if  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),0,\underline{g}^*(m+1)\}} = Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m),\underline{g}^*(m+1)\}} - a(m)\gamma_m^{g^*}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$  with probability 1 for each m. In that case,  $Y_m(\beta^*) = Y_{g=\{\overline{A}(m-1),\underline{g}^*(m)\}}$  and, in particular,  $Y_0(\beta^*) = Y_{g*}$ . This reflects the fact that, at each time  $j \ge m$ ,  $Y_m(\beta^*)$  subtracts from the subject's observed Y the effect  $A(j)\gamma_j^{g^*}\{\overline{A}(j-1),\overline{L}(j),\beta^*\}$  of the subject's observed treatment A(j) and replaces it with the effect  $g_j^*\{\overline{A}(j-1),\overline{L}(j)\}\gamma_j^{g^*}\{\overline{A}(j-1),\overline{L}(j),\beta^*\}$  of the treatment  $g_j^*\{\overline{A}(j-1),\overline{L}(j)\}$  that the subject would have had at j had she, possibly contrary to fact, begun to follow regime  $g^*$  at time j.

Even without local rank preservation, it can be proved that, in the absence of model misspecification, under the strengthened identifiability conditions, (i) the g-estimator  $\hat{\beta}$ , now based on (23.18), is consistent for the parameter  $\beta^*$  of  $\gamma_m^{g^*}\{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta^*\}$ ; (ii) the sample average  $\hat{E}(Y_{g^*}) = N^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^N Y_{0,i}(\hat{\beta})$  of  $Y_0(\hat{\beta})$  is consistent for  $E(Y_{g^*})$ ; and (iii) for any other regime g,  $\hat{E}(Y_g) = \hat{E}(Y_{g^*}) + \sum_{v=1}^V \hat{\Delta}_{g,v}^{g^*}/V$  is consistent for  $\hat{E}(Y_g)$  as  $V \to \infty$ , where the quantity  $\hat{\Delta}_{g,v}^{g^*}$  is defined exactly like  $\hat{\Delta}_{g,v}$  given above except that  $a_v(j)\gamma_j\{\overline{a}_v(j-1),\overline{l}_v(j),\widehat{\beta}\}a_v(j)\gamma_j\{\overline{a}_v(j-1),\overline{l}_v(j),\widehat{\beta}\}$  is replaced by the quantity  $[a_v(j) - g_j^*\{\overline{a}_v(j-1),\overline{l}_v(j)\}]\gamma_j^{g^*}\{\overline{a}_v(j-1),\overline{l}_v(j),\widehat{\beta}\}$ , with  $\hat{\beta}$  based on (23.18). When  $\gamma_j^{g^*}\{\overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j), \beta\} = \beta^T R_j$ , we have the closed-form expression

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\beta} &= \left(\sum_{i=1,m=0}^{i=N,m=K} X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha})Q_{im}S_{im}^{T}\right)^{-1} \\ &\times \left\{\sum_{i=1,m=0}^{i=N,m=K} Y_{i}X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha})Q_{im}\right\} \text{ with } S_{im}^{T} \text{ redefined as } \sum_{j=m}^{j=K} \{A_{i}(j) - g_{j}^{*}(\overline{A}_{i}(j-1),\overline{L}_{i}(j))\}R_{ij}^{T}. \end{split}$$

Optimal-regime SNMMs. A primary use of  $g^*$ -SNMMs is in attempting to estimate the optimal treatment strategy  $g_{\text{opt}}$  that maximizes  $E(Y_g)$  over all treatment regimes g, including non-dynamic and dynamic regimes in which treatment depends on past covariate history alone, and dynamic regimes in which treatment depends on past covariate and treatment history. To do so, we specify an optimal treatment SNMM,  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMM, based on a function  $\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta\}$ . As an example, we might specify that

$$\gamma_m^{g_{opt}}\{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta\} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 m + \beta_2 a(m-1)$$

$$+ \beta_3^T l(m) + \beta_4^T l(m) a(m-1) + \beta_5^T l(m-1) + \beta_6^T l(m-1) a(m-1).$$
(23.19)

If the  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMM were correctly specified, and we knew the true  $\beta^*$ , then we would know the optimal treatment regime. Specifically, the optimal treatment  $g_{\text{opt},m}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m)\}$  at time m given past treatment and covariate history  $\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m)\}$  is to take treatment if and only if  $\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$  exceeds zero. That is,  $g_{\text{opt},m}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m)\} = I[\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\} > 0].$ 

To understand heuristically why this is the case, assume a locally rank-preserving model, and suppose that, at the last treatment time K, a subject has past history  $\overline{a}(K-1), \overline{l}(K)$ .

If the subject does not take treatment at K, her outcome will be  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(K-1),0_K\}}$ , while if she takes treatment it will be  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(K-1),1_K\}}$ . Now, according to a locally rank-preserving  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMM,  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(K-1),0_K\}} = Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(K-1),1_K\}} - \gamma_K^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(K-1),\overline{l}(K),\beta^*\}$ . Because high values of Y are desirable, the optimal treatment choice is to take treatment if and only if  $\gamma_K^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(K-1),\overline{l}(K),\beta^*\}$  exceeds zero. (If  $\gamma_K^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(K-1),\overline{l}(K),\beta^*\}$  is precisely zero, then it does not matter whether treatment is taken; in such cases, we choose not to treat simply to break the "tie.") We continue by backward induction. Specifically, suppose we know the optimal regime from m + 1 onwards. Consider a subject at time m with past history  $\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m)$ . Such a subject will follow the known optimal regime from m + 1 onwards. But she must decide what treatment to take at m. If she does not take treatment at m, her outcome will be  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),0,g_{\text{opt}}(m+1)\}}$ , while if she takes treatment at m, her outcome will be  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),1,g_{\text{opt}}(m+1)\}}$ . But according to the model,  $Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),0,g_{\text{opt}}(m+1)\}} = Y_{g=\{\overline{a}(m-1),1,g_{\text{opt}}(m+1)\}} - \gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$ , so she should take treatment if and only if  $\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$  exceeds zero. Even in the absence of local rank preservation, it can be proved that, under the strengthened exchangeability conditions, the optimal decision is to treat if and only if  $\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\beta^*\}$  exceeds zero.

Now, if we knew  $\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}} \{ \overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta^* \}$  and thus we knew the optimal regime, we would simply have each subject in the population follow the optimal regime beginning at time 0, where at each time *m* the covariates L(m) must be measured and recorded, so the evolving covariate data necessary to follow the optimal regime will be available.

Thus, it only remains to estimate  $\beta^*$  by g-estimation based on (23.18) in order to obtain an estimate  $\hat{g}_{\text{opt},m}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m)\} = I[\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m),\widehat{\beta}\} > 0]$  of the optimal regime and an estimate  $\hat{E}(Y_{g_{\text{opt}}}) = N^{-1}\sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_{0,i}(\widehat{\beta})$  of the mean  $E(Y_{g_{\text{opt}}})$  of Y when the population is treated optimally. When specialized to the regime  $g_{\text{opt}}$ , (23.18) becomes

$$Y_{m}(\beta) = Y + \sum_{j=m}^{K} [g_{\text{opt},j}\{\overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j)\} - A(j)]\gamma_{j}^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j), \beta\}$$
(23.20)  
$$= Y + \sum_{j=m}^{K} (I[\gamma_{j}^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j), \beta\} > 0] - A(j))\gamma_{j}^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j), \beta\};$$

this differs from the earlier expression in that the regime  $g_{\text{opt}}$  itself is a function of the parameter  $\beta$  and thus unknown. Nonetheless, one can use g-estimation based on  $Y_m(\beta)$  to estimate  $\beta$  and set confidence intervals by searching over a grid of  $\beta$  values. However, when the dimension of  $\beta$  is moderate, so that finding  $\hat{\beta}$  by search is computationally prohibitive, there is no longer an explicit closed-form expression for the g-estimate  $\hat{\beta}$  based on (23.20), even when  $\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta\}$  is linear in  $\beta$ , because  $\beta$  now also occurs within an indicator function. In fact, the g-estimate  $\hat{\beta}$  is exceedingly difficult to compute. However, the following different, computationally tractable, approach can be used when  $\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{A}(m-1), \overline{L}(m), \beta\}$  is linear in  $\beta$ , that is,  $\gamma_m^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{A}(m-1), \overline{L}(m), \beta\} = R_m^T \beta$ , where  $R_m$  is a known vector function of  $\{\overline{A}(m-1), \overline{L}(m)\}$ .

A closed-form estimator of the optimal regime. Suppose for the moment that we have  $\gamma_m^{g_{opt}} \{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m), \beta\} = R_m^T \beta_m$  linear in  $\beta$  with a separate, variation-independent parameter vector at each time m, so that  $\beta^T = (\beta_0^T, \ldots, \beta_K^T)$ . Define  $P_m(\widehat{\alpha}) = \expi\{\widehat{\alpha}^T W(m)\}$  to be the estimate of  $\Pr\{A(m) = 1 | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  based on the fit of the model (23.8). Specify a working model  $\varsigma_m^T D_m = \varsigma_m^T d_m\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  for  $E\{Y_m(\beta^*) | \overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$ . Now, beginning with  $\beta_K$ , we recursively obtain the closed-form, doubly robust estimates  $\widetilde{\beta}_m$  of the  $\beta_m$ , with  $(\widetilde{\beta}_m, \widetilde{\eta}_m, \widetilde{\varsigma}_m)$  the OLS estimator of  $(\beta_m, \eta_m, \varsigma_m)$  in the regression model

$$Y_{m+1}(\underline{\widetilde{\beta}}_{m+1}) = A(m)R_m^T\beta_m + P_m(\widehat{\alpha})R_m^T\eta_m + D_m^T\varsigma_m + \epsilon. \text{ Here, } Y_{K+1}(\underline{\widetilde{\beta}}_{K+1}) = Y \text{ and}$$
$$Y_{m+1}(\underline{\widetilde{\beta}}_{m+1}) = Y + \sum_{j=m+1}^K \left\{ I\left(R_j^T\widetilde{\beta}_j > 0\right) - A(j) \right\} R_j^T\widetilde{\beta}_j.$$

The  $\tilde{\beta}_m$  are CAN for the  $\beta_m^*$  if either all the models  $\varsigma_m^T D_m$  are correct or the model (23.8) is correct.

**Remark:** The  $\tilde{\beta}_m$  are possibly inefficient members of the following general class of estimators. Beginning with m = K, we recursively obtain consistent closed-form estimators  $\tilde{\beta}_m(s,q)$  of the  $\beta_m$ , indexed by vectors of functions s, q

$$\widetilde{\beta}_m(s,q) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^N A_i(m) X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha}) Q_{im} R_{im}^T \right\}^{-1} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^N \{Y_{m+1}(\underline{\widetilde{\beta}}_{m+1})_j - S_{im}\} X_{im}(\widehat{\alpha}) Q_{im} \right],$$

where  $X_m(\widehat{\alpha}) = \{A(m) - \widehat{P}_m(\widehat{\alpha})\}$ , and the choice of the  $S_m = s_m\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  and  $Q_m = q_m\{\overline{L}(m), \overline{A}(m-1)\}$  affects efficiency but not consistency when the model (23.8) is correct.

Now suppose that in our  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMM the same parameter vector  $\beta$  applies to each time m. To be concrete, consider the  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMM (23.19). In that case, we first estimate a larger model that has a separate, variation-independent parameter vector  $\beta_m$  at each time m; model (23.19) is then the submodel that imposes  $\beta_m = \beta$  for all m. Let  $\tilde{\Omega}^{-1}$  be a non-parametric bootstrap estimate of the covariance matrix of  $(\tilde{\beta}_0, \ldots, \tilde{\beta}_K)$ . We then estimate  $\beta$  by an inverse covariance weighted average  $\hat{\beta} = 1_{K+1}^T \tilde{\Omega}^{-1} (\tilde{\beta}_0, \ldots, \tilde{\beta}_K)^T / (1_{K+1}^T \tilde{\Omega}^{-1} 1_{K+1})$  of the  $\tilde{\beta}_m$ , where  $1_{K+1}$  is a (K+1)-vector with all components equal to 1.

Note that the  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMM (23.19) is a non-saturated model. For example, it assumes that the optimal regime does not depend on covariate values two weeks in the past or treatment values three weeks in the past, which may be incorrect. If the  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMM is badly misspecified, then the estimated optimal regime  $\hat{g}_{\text{opt},m}\{\overline{a}(m-1),\overline{l}(m)\}$  may be a poor estimate of the actual optimal regime. Because in realistic studies highly non-saturated  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMMs must be employed, misspecification can be a serious problem.

We note that, in using a  $g_{\text{opt}}$ -SNMM to find the optimal regime, it was necessary for us to estimate the treatment strategy

$$g_{\text{opt}} = [g_{\text{opt},0}\{\bar{l}(0)\}, g_{\text{opt},1}\{a(0), \bar{l}(1)\}, \dots, g_{\text{opt},K}\{\bar{a}(K-1), \bar{l}(K)\}]$$

that maximized  $E(Y_g)$  over all treatment regimes g, including regimes in which treatment depends on past treatment as well as covariate history. However, as discussed earlier, one can always construct a regime  $g_{opt}^{\Delta} = [g_{opt,1}^{\Delta}\{\overline{l}(0)\}, g_{opt,1}^{\Delta}\{\overline{l}(1)\}, \ldots, g_{opt,K}^{\Delta}\{\overline{l}(K)\}]$  in which treatment depends only on past covariate history such that following regime  $g_{opt}^{\Delta}$  from time 0 onwards is precisely equivalent to following  $g_{opt}$  from time 0. Nonetheless, it can be important to know  $g_{opt}$  rather than only  $g_{opt}^{\Delta}$ , as the following example shows. Suppose that a (random) member of the source population has observed history  $\{\overline{A}(m-1), \overline{L}(m)\} =$  $\{\overline{a}(m-1), \overline{l}(m)\}$  (under standard care) that is not consistent with following the optimal regime  $g_{opt}$  and comes to our attention only at time m. We wish to intervene beginning at m and give the subject the optimal treatment strategy from time m onwards. Under the strengthened exchangeability conditions, the optimal treatment strategy for such a subject is  $[g_{opt,m}\{a(m-1), \overline{l}(m)\}, \ldots, g_{opt,K}\{\overline{a}(K-1), \overline{l}(K)\}]$ . This strategy can be implemented only if we know (or have a good estimate of)  $g_{opt}$ ; knowledge of  $g_{opt}^{\Delta}$  does not suffice.

Finally, we return to our hypothetical study of Section 23.4 in order to provide a worked example of optimal regime estimation.

1		0				
A(0)	L(1)	A(1)	N	Y	$Y_1(\beta_1^*)$	$Y_0(\beta_1^*)$
0	1	0	2000	200	220	235
0	1	1	6000	220	220	235
0	0	0	6000	50	70	85
0	0	1	2000	70	70	85
1	1	0	3000	130	130	130
1	1	1	9000	110	130	130
1	0	0	3000	230	250	250
1	0	1	1000	250	250	250

 Table 23.7 An Intuitive Approach to Estimate the Optimal Regime

*Estimation of the optimal regime in our hypothetical study.* We estimate the optimal regime twice. First, we use a very intuitive approach that unfortunately does not generalize beyond our simple toy example. Second, we use our closed-form optimal regime estimator to estimate a saturated optimal regime SNMM.

An intuitive approach. Assume local rank-preservation. Then, by defination,  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  is the value of Y had subjects followed their observed A(0) and then followed the optimal regime at time 1. Because the subjects in rows 1 and 2 of Table 23.7 are exchangeable, and their treatments only differ at time 1, it is immediate that the mean of  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  for the subjects in rows 1 and 2 is the greater of 200 and 220. Arguing similarly for rows 3 and 4, 5 and 6, and 7 and 8, we can immediately fill in the  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  column in Table 23.7 without even explicitly estimating  $\beta_1^*$ . By comparing the  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  column to the Y column in rows 5 through 8, we discover that, if treatment was taken at time 0, it is optimal to take treatment at time 1 if and only if L(1) = 0. Comparing the  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  and the Y columns in rows 1 through 4, we discover that, if treatment was not taken at time 0, it should be taken at time 1, regardless of L(1). We conclude that the only remaining possibilities for  $g_{opt}$  are  $g_1 =$  "take treatment at time 0 and then take treatment at time 1 only if L(1) is 0" and  $q_2 =$  "do not take treatment at time 0 but take treatment at time 1." Because subjects in rows 1 through 4 are exchangeable with those in rows 5 through 8 and  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  equals  $Y_{q_2}$  for subjects in rows 1 through 4 and equals  $Y_{q_1}$  for subjects in rows 5 through 8, we can determine the optimal regime by comparing the mean of  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  in rows 1 through 4 to that in rows 5 through 8. Now the mean in rows 1 through 4 is

$$220 \times \frac{8000}{16,000} + 70 \times \frac{8000}{16,000} = 145$$

while that in rows 5 through 8 is

$$130 \times \frac{12,000}{16,000} + 250 \times \frac{4000}{16,000} = 160.$$

We conclude that the regime  $g_1$  is optimal and  $E(Y_{g_1}) = 160$ . That 160 is the mean of  $Y_{g_1}$  can be confirmed using the g-computation algorithm, unstabilized IPTW, or using calculations based on the ordinary SNMM as in Section 23.4.

Closed-form optimal regime estimator. We now repeat the analysis, but this time using the closed-form optimal regime estimator of a saturated optimal regime SNMM. With the model saturated and no baseline L(0) in our example, we have, with K = 1,  $\gamma_1^{g_{opt}} \{\overline{a}(0), \overline{l}(1), \beta^*\} = \beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,2}^* l(1) + \beta_{1,3}^* a(0) + \beta_{1,4}^* a(0) l(1)$  and  $\gamma_0^{g_{opt}} \{\overline{a}(-1), \overline{l}(0), \beta^*\} = \beta_0^*$ . We note that, at the last time K,  $\gamma_K^{g^*} \{\overline{a}(0), \overline{l}(1), \beta^*\}$  is the same for all  $g^*$ -SNMM so, with K = 1,  $\beta_{1,1}^* = 20$ ,  $\beta_{1,2}^* = \beta_{1,3}^* = 0$ ,  $\beta_{1,4}^* = -40$  as in Section 23.4. (The reader can verify that the OLS estimator of  $\beta_1^*$  described above also returns these values.) Thus,  $\gamma_1^{g_{opt}} \{\overline{a}(0), \overline{l}(1), \beta^*\}$  takes

the four values  $\gamma_1^{g_{\text{opt}}}(0,0) = \beta_{1,1}^* = 20, \ \gamma_1^{g_{\text{opt}}}(1,0) = \beta_{1,1}^* = 20, \ \gamma_1^{g_{\text{opt}}}(0,1) = \beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,3}^* = 20, \ \gamma_1^{g_{\text{opt}}}(1,1) = \beta_{1,1}^* + \beta_{1,2}^* + \beta_{1,3}^* + \beta_{1,4}^* = -20.$  Further,  $g_{\text{opt},1}\{\overline{a}(0),\overline{l}(1)\} = I[\gamma_1^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(0),\overline{l}(1),\beta^*\} > 0]$  takes the values

$$g_{\text{opt},1}(0,0) = g_{\text{opt},1}(0,1) = g_{\text{opt},1}(1,0) = 1, g_{\text{opt},1}(1,1) = 0.$$
(23.21)

Now, by (23.20)  $Y_1(\beta_1^*) = Y + \sum_{j=1}^{1} [g_{\text{opt},j} \{ \overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j) \} - A(j)] \gamma_j^{g_{\text{opt}}} \{ \overline{A}(j-1), \overline{L}(j), \beta \}$ , so we have that  $Y_1(\beta_1^*) = Y$  if  $g_{\text{opt},1} \{ \overline{A}(0), \overline{L}(1) \} = A(1)$ . Consequently,  $Y_1(\beta_1^*) = Y$  if  $\{ A(1) = 1 \text{ and } (\overline{A}(0), \overline{L}(1)) \neq (1, 1) \}$  or if  $\{ A(1) = 0 \text{ and } (\overline{A}(0), \overline{L}(1)) = (1, 1) \}$ . If  $\{ \overline{A}(0), \overline{L}(1) \} = (1, 1)$  and A(1) = 1,  $Y_1(\beta_1^*) = Y - (-20) = Y + 20$ . If  $\{ \overline{A}(0), \overline{L}(1) \} \neq (1, 1), A(1) = 0, Y_1(\beta_1^*) = Y + 20$ .

Using the row-specific means of Y given in Table 23.7, we obtain again the same results for the  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  column as above. Next, in order to estimate the parameter  $\beta_0^*$  of  $\gamma_0^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(-1),\overline{l}(0),\beta_0^*\}$ , we fit by OLS the regression model  $Y_1(\beta_1^*) = \beta_0 A(0) R_0 + \eta_0 P_0 R_0 + \epsilon$ , with  $R_0 = 1$  and  $P_0 = \Pr\{A(0) = 1\} = 1/2$ . That is, we fit the model  $Y_1(\beta_1^*) = \beta_0 A(0) + \nu_0 + \epsilon$  by OLS, where  $\nu_0 = \eta_0/2$ . The OLS estimate of  $\beta_0$  is just the contrast  $E\{Y_1(\beta_1^*)|A(0) = 1\} - E\{Y_1(\beta_1^*)|A(0) = 0\}$ . Above, we calculated the mean of  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$  to be 145 among subjects with A(0) = 1 (rows 1 through 4 of Table 23.7) and 160 among subjects with A(0) = 0 (rows 5 through 8). Thus,  $\beta_0^* = 15$ . Hence,  $g_{\text{opt},0} = I[\gamma_0^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(-1),\overline{l}(0),\beta_0^*\} > 0] = I(\beta_0^* > 0) = 1$ . We conclude that the optimal treatment  $g_{\text{opt},0} = 1$  at time 0 is to "take treatment." The optimal treatment at time 1 given that one followed the optimal treatment at time 0 is, by (23.21),  $g_{\text{opt},1}(1,0) = 1$  if l(1) = 0 and  $g_{\text{opt},1}(1,1) = 0$  if l(1) = 1. Thus, we again conclude that the optimal regime is  $g_1 =$  "take treatment at time 0 and then take treatment at time 1 only if L(1) is 0." Finally, we compute  $Y_0(\beta^*)$  for each subject by adding  $\{g_{\text{opt},0} - A(0)\}\gamma_0^{g_{\text{opt}}}\{\overline{a}(-1),\overline{l}(0),\beta_0^*\} = \{1 - A(0)\}15$  to  $Y_1(\beta_1^*)$ . As expected, the mean of  $Y_0(\beta^*)$  is the mean of  $E(Y_{g_1}) = 160$  both in rows 1 through 4 and rows 5 through 8.

#### 23.6 Strengths and weaknesses

As mentioned previously, owing to the null paradox, methods based on the estimated gformula should be avoided whenever the null hypothesis of no treatment effect has not yet been excluded. MSMs have the advantage that they are easy to understand and easy to fit with standard, off-the-shelf software that allows for weights. These two points explain their rapid adoption compared to SNMs. The usefulness of MSMs has been extended by the introduction of dynamic MSMs.

However, IPTW estimation of MSMs has four drawbacks not shared by g-estimation of SNMs. First, if the number of time periods is great, the product in the denominator of the weights can become very small for some subjects who then receive inordinately large weights, leading both to bias when the weights must be estimated (and to so-called pseudo-bias [Scharfstein, Rotnitzky, and Robins, 1999] even when they are known) and to imprecision. Problems with large or even truly infinite weights (when positivity does not hold) can be somewhat ameliorated but not cured by using bounded doubly robust estimators (Robins et al., 2008b), adjusting for baseline covariates and then using the covariates in the numerator of the weights, downweighting regimes q = x associated with very small weights, using locally semi-parametric efficient estimators or bounded influence estimators for non-saturated MSMs (as these estimators downweight regimes q = x that result in excessively large weights in a near optimal fashion), and using diagnostics for the undue influence of large weights and for the consequences of truncating large weights (Wang et al., 2006). Second, MSMs cannot be used to estimate causal effects when treatment is confounded but an instrumental variable is available. Third, although not discussed in this chapter, sensitivity analysis models for MSMs are much more restrictive and less useful than those for SNMs. Fourth, SNMs, in

#### CAUSAL DIRECTED ACYCLIC GRAPHS

contrast to MSMs, allow one to directly model interactions between treatment and evolving time-dependent covariates and so to directly look for qualitative effect modification.

Disadvantages of SNMs compared with MSMs include the following:

- 1. SNMs cannot be easily used to compare non-dynamic regimes when there is effect modification by a time-dependent covariate.
- 2. Although SNMMs with a log link can be fit by g-estimation, logistic SNMMs cannot, making SNMMs difficult to use for non-rare dichotomous responses.
- 3. SNM models for failure time data have had to be based on accelerated failure time-like models that are difficult to fit in the presence of censoring because the objective function is non-smooth.

Problems 2 and 3 may soon be resolved. In an unpublished report, Richardson and Robins (2007) have recently developed methods for fitting risk ratio models to non-rare binary responses that may resolve problem 2. An alternative approach is given in van der Laan, Hubbard, and Jewell (2007). Page, Hernán, and Robins (2005) have developed cumulative incidence structural nested failure time models to solve problem 3 under the rare disease assumption.

In terms of estimation of optimal regimes, both MSMs and SNMs have their distinct place. General MSMs are excellent for estimating the optimal regime in any rather small prespecified classes of regimes (such as the optimal CD4 cell count at which to start therapy) that still may include all logistically feasible regimes, particularly in settings with resource constraints that preclude implementing complex regimes.

In contrast, the method of backward induction on which g-estimation of optimal regime SNMs is based requires that the set of potential regimes from which the optimal is to be selected include all functions of an increasing (in time) amount of information (i.e., of an increasing sigma field). Thus, optimal regime SNMs are useful for estimating the optimal regime in the huge class of dynamic regimes in which treatment at each m can depend on any function of the entire measured past  $\overline{l}(m), \overline{a}(m-1)$  (the case considered above) or, as described in Robins (2004, Section 7), in the smaller, but still large, class in which treatment at each m can depend on any function of  $\overline{w}(m), \overline{a}(m-1)$  where W(m) is a subvector of the covariates in L(m). Even if W(m) is just CD4 cell count at m, it is possible that the optimal treatment decision at time m may be a complex function of CD4 cell counts at all past times. Such a regime, though optimal, may be logistically impossible to implement, in which case it may be necessary to choose among a smaller class of logistically feasible regimes by fitting a general MSM.

#### 23.7 Appendix: Causal directed acyclic graphs

We define a directed acyclic graph (DAG) G to be a graph whose nodes (vertices) are random variables  $V = (V_1, \ldots, V_M)$  with directed edges (arrows) and no directed cycles. We use  $PA_m$  to denote the parents of  $V_m$ , that is, the set of nodes from which there is a direct arrow into  $V_m$ . The variable  $V_j$  is a descendant of  $V_m$  if there is a sequence of nodes connected by edges between  $V_m$  and  $V_j$  such that, following the direction indicated by the arrows, one can reach  $V_j$  by starting at  $V_m$ . For example, consider the causal DAG in Figure 23.1(b) that represents the causal structure of an observational study with no unmeasured confounding or the effect of A on Y. In this DAG, M = 4 and we can choose  $V_1 = U$ ,  $V_2 = L$ ,  $V_3 = A$ ,  $V_4 = Y$ ; the parents  $PA_4$  of  $V_4 = Y$  are (U, L, A) and the non-descendants of A are (U, L).

Following Spirtes et al. (1993), a causal DAG is a DAG in which (i) the lack of an arrow from node  $V_j$  to  $V_m$  can be interpreted as the absence of a direct causal effect of  $V_j$  on  $V_m$ (relative to the other variables on the graph), and (ii) all common causes, even if unmeasured, of any pair of variables on the graph are themselves on the graph. In Figure 23.1(b) the lack of a direct arrow between U and A indicates that unmeasured factors U do not have a direct causal effect (causative or preventive) on the patient's treatment. Also, the inclusion of the measured variables (L, A, Y) implies that the causal DAG must also include the unmeasured common causes U. Note that a causal DAG model makes no reference to and is agnostic as to the existence of counterfactuals.

Our causal DAG is of no practical use unless we make some assumption linking the causal structure represented by the DAG to the statistical data obtained in an epidemiologic study, which we do through the causal Markov assumption. First we give some definitions that apply to any DAG, causal or not.

We say a DAG G represents the joint density of its node variables V if and only if f(v) satisfies the Markov factorization

$$f(v) = \prod_{j=1}^{M} f(v_j \mid pa_j).$$
 (23.22)

That is, the density f(v) can be factorized as the product of the probability of each variable given its parents. This factorization is equivalent to the statement that the non-descendants of a given variable  $V_j$  are independent of  $V_j$  conditional on the parents of  $V_j$ .

The causal Markov assumption (CMA) states that the joint distribution of the variables on a causal graph satisfies the Markov factorization (23.22). Because of the causal meaning of parents and descendants on a causal DAG, the CMA is equivalent to the statement that, conditional on its direct causes (i.e., parents), a variable V is independent of any variable it does not cause (i.e., any non-descendant of V). The Markov factorization (23.22) logically implies additional statistical independencies and, specifically, it implies that a set of variables A is conditionally independent of another set of variables B given a third set of variables Z if A is d-separated from B given Z on the graph G, written  $(A \amalg_{d-sep} B|Z)_G$ , where d-separation, described below, is a statement about the topology of the graph (Pearl, 1995). To check for unconditional (i.e., marginal) independence we make Z the empty set. In the following a path between A and B is any sequence of nodes and edges (where the direction of the arrows is ignored) that connects A to B. A variable C is a collider on a path between variables A and B if the edges on the path that meet at C both have arrows pointing at C.

Unconditional d-separation  $(A \amalg_{d-sep} B)_G$ . A variable A is d-separated from variable B on a DAG G if and only if all paths between them are blocked. The path is blocked if there is a collider on the path. If a path is not blocked, we say it is unblocked, active, or open, all of which are synonymous. We say that a set of variables A is d-separated from a set of variables B if and only if each variable in A is d-separated from every variable in B. Thus,  $(A \amalg_{d-sep} B)_G$  if and only if every path from A to B is blocked. If even one path is unblocked, we write  $(A \coprod_{d-sep} B)_G$ .

Conditional d-separation  $(A \amalg_{d-sep} B|Z)_G$ . We say that two variables A and B are dseparated given (or by) a set of variables  $Z = (Z_1, \ldots, Z_k)$  if all paths between A and B are blocked where, when we condition on Z, a path between A and B is blocked if (i) there is any variable  $Z_m \in Z$  on the path that is not a collider, or (ii) there is a collider on the path such that neither the collider itself nor any of its descendants are in Z. A set of variables A is d-separated from a set of variables B given Z if and only if each variable in A is d-separated from every variable in B given Z.

The CMA allows one to deduce that d-separation implies statistical independence, but does not allow one to deduce that d-connection (i.e., the absence of d-separation) implies statistical dependence. However, d-connected variables will generally be independent only if there is an exact balancing of positive and negative causal effects. Because such precise fortuitous balancing of effects is highly unlikely to occur, we shall henceforth assume that dconnected variables are dependent. This is often referred to as the assumption of faithfulness or stability.

A causal DAG model that includes counterfactuals is a non-parametric structural equation model (NPSEM) (Pearl, 1995). First, some notation. For any random variable W, let Wdenote the support (i.e., the set of possible values w) of W. For any  $w_1, \ldots, w_m$ , define  $\overline{w}_m = (w_1, \ldots, w_m)$ . Let R denote any subset of variables in V and let r be a value of R. Then  $V_m(r)$  denotes the counterfactual value of  $V_m$  when R is set to r. We number the variables in V so that for j < I,  $V_j$  is not a descendent of  $V_i$ .

An NPSEM represented by a DAG G with vertex set V assumes the existence of mutually independent unobserved random variables (errors)  $\epsilon_m$  and deterministic unknown functions  $f_m(pa_m, \epsilon_m)$  such that  $V_1 = f_1(\epsilon_1)$  and the one-step ahead counterfactual  $V_m(\overline{v}_{m-1}) \equiv$  $V_m(pa_m)$  is given by  $f_m(pa_m, \epsilon_m)$ , and both  $V_m$  and the counterfactuals  $V_m(r)$  for any  $R \subset V$  are obtained recursively from  $V_1$  and the  $V_m(\overline{v}_{m-1}), m > 1$ . For example,  $V_3(v_1) =$  $V_3\{v_1, V_2(v_1)\}$  and  $V_3 = V_3\{V_1, V_2(V_1)\}$ .

In Figure 23.1b,  $Y_a = V_4(v_3) = f_4(V_1, V_2, v_3, \epsilon_4) = f_Y(U, L, a, \epsilon_Y)$  where we define  $f_Y = f_4$ ,  $\epsilon_Y = \epsilon_4$ , since  $Y = V_4$ . A DAG *G* representing an NPSEM is a causal DAG for which the CMA holds because the independence of the error terms  $\epsilon_m$  both implies the CMA holds and is essentially equivalent to the requirement that all common causes of any variables on the graph are themselves on the causal DAG. Although an NPSEM is a causal DAG, not all causal DAG models are NPSEMs. Indeed, as mentioned above, a causal DAG model makes no reference to and is agnostic about the existence of counterfactuals. In the main body of this chapter, we use the term "causal DAG" to mean a causal DAG representing an NPSEM. All the results for NPSEMs described in this chapter actually hold under the slightly weaker assumptions encoded in the fully randomized, causally interpreted structured tree graph (FRCISTG) models of Robins (1986; see Robins, 2003b, for an additional discussion). All NPSEMs are FRCISTGs, but not all FRCISTGs are NPSEMs.

A graphical condition for g-identifiability. We have the following theorem and corollary given by Robins (1997b) generalizing Pearl and Robins (1995). For consistency with the original source, these are presented using the alternative notation that represents, for example, A(t) as  $A_t$ , as described at the beginning of Section 23.3 and used in Chapter 20 and Chapter 22.

**Theorem:** Given a DAG G whose vertex set consists of the random variables that are elements of the random vectors  $Y, X_m, A_m, m = 0, \ldots, K$ , whose edges are consistent with the (partial) ordering  $X_0A_0X_1A_1\ldots X_KA_KY$ , in the sense that the earlier variables in the ordering are non-descendants of later variables, suppose  $X_m = (L_m, U_m)$ . We observe Y and, for each  $m, (A_m, L_m)$ . The  $U_m$  are unobserved. Let  $L_m^*$  denote an arbitrary element (vertex) in the set of vertices  $L_m$ . Consider a set of functions  $g = \{g_m; m = 0, \ldots, K\}$  where  $g_m$  has domain the support  $\overline{\mathcal{L}}_m$  of  $\overline{\mathcal{L}}_m$  and range the support  $\mathcal{A}_m$  of  $A_m$ . We say that  $A_m$  is g-unconnected to a node  $L_k^*, k \leq m$ , if  $g_m(\overline{l}_m^{(1)}) = g_m(\overline{l}_m^{(2)})$  whenever  $\overline{l}_m^{(1)}$  and  $\overline{l}_m^{(2)}$  differ only in  $l_k^*$ . Otherwise,  $A_m$  is g-connected to  $L_k^*, k \leq m$ . Define the g-formula  $b_{g,l}$  and  $b_{g,x}$  for g based on l and x, respectively, to be

$$b_{g,l} = \sum_{\overline{l}} E\{Y|\overline{A} = \overline{g}(\overline{l}), \overline{L} = \overline{l}\} \prod_{k=0}^{K} f\{l_k|\overline{A}_{k-1} = \overline{g}_{k-1}(\overline{l}_{k-1}), \overline{L}_{k-1} = \overline{l}_{k-1}\}$$
$$b_{g,x} = \sum_{\overline{x} = (\overline{l},\overline{u})} E\{Y|\overline{A} = \overline{g}(\overline{l}), \overline{X} = \overline{x}\} \prod_{k=0}^{K} f\{x_k|\overline{A}_{k-1} = \overline{g}_{k-1}(\overline{l}_{k-1}), \overline{X}_{k-1} = \overline{x}_{k-1}\},$$



Figure 23.5 Example of a causal DAG.

and note  $b_{g,l}$  is a function of the joint distribution of the observables and thus always identified assuming positivity.

- (i) A sufficient condition for  $b_{g,x} = b_{g,l}$  is that for  $m = 0, \ldots, K, A_m$  and Y are d-separated given  $(\overline{L}_m, \overline{A}_{m-1})$  on the DAG  $G_m^g$  built from DAG G from the following three rules:
  - 1. Remove all arrows out of  $A_m$  on DAG G.
  - 2. Remove all arrows into  $A_{m+1}, \ldots, A_K$  on DAG G.
  - 3. For  $s = m + 1, \ldots, K$ , add arrows from  $L_j^*$  to  $A_s$  if  $A_s$  is g-connected to  $L_j^*, j \leq s$ .
- (ii) If for m = 0, ..., K,  $A_m$  and Y are d-separated given  $(\overline{L}_m, \overline{A}_{m-1})$  on the DAG  $G_m^g$  and  $Y_g \amalg A_m | \overline{X}_m, \overline{A}_{m-1}$ , then  $Y_g \amalg A_m | \overline{L}_m, \overline{A}_{m-1}$ .

**Corollary:** If the DAG G in the above theorem is a causal DAG representing an NPSEM or FRCISTG, and  $A_m$  and Y are d-separated given  $(\overline{L}_m, \overline{A}_{m-1})$  on the DAG  $G_m^g$  for all m, then  $Y_g \amalg A_m | \overline{L}_m, \overline{A}_{m-1}$ , and  $E(Y_g)$  equals  $b_{g,l}$  and so is identified by the g-formula based on the observed data.

**Proof:** Robins (1986) proved that  $E(Y_g) = b_{g,x}$  and  $Y_g \amalg A_m | \overline{X}_m, \overline{A}_{m-1}$  if G represents an FRCISTG. Furthermore, Robins (1995) proved an NPSEM is an FRCISTG. The corollary now follows from the preceding theorem.

As an example, consider the DAG G in Figure 23.5. We shall consider the non-dynamic regime  $g = \overline{a} = (a_0, a_1)$  and the dynamic regimes  $g = \{a_0, g_1(l_1) = l_1\}$  and  $g = \{a_0, g_1(l_1) = 1 - l_1\}$ .

Note that, for the regime  $g = \overline{a}$ , we have  $g_1(l_1) = a_1$ . Hence,  $A_1$  is g-unconnected to a node  $L_1$  for  $g = \overline{a}$ , but  $A_1$  is g-connected to node  $L_1$  for the two dynamic g.

Now the graph  $G_1^g$  is G with the arrow out of  $A_1$  removed for all three g. Further,  $A_1$  and Y are d-separated given  $(A_0, L_1)$  on  $G_1^g$ . For g non-dynamic,  $G_0^g$  is G with all arrows out of  $A_0$  removed and all arrows into  $A_1$  removed; moreover,  $A_0$  and Y are dseparated on  $G_0^g$ . For g dynamic,  $G_0^g$  is G with all arrows out of  $A_0$  removed and a single arrow into  $A_1$  originating at  $L_1$ ; therefore,  $A_0$  and Y are not d-separated on  $G_0^g$  because of the unblocked path  $A_0 \leftarrow U_0 \longrightarrow L_1 \leftarrow A_1 \longrightarrow Y$ . We conclude that if DAG G in Figure 23.5 represents an NPSEM, then, in the absence of data on  $U_0$  and  $U_1$ ,  $E(Y_{g=\overline{a}})$  is identified and equals  $b_{g=\overline{a},l}$ . However, for g dynamic,  $E(Y_g)$  does not equal  $b_{g,l}$ , and in fact  $E(Y_g)$  is not identified.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Dr. Sally Picciotto for her helpful comments. This work was supported by U.S. National Institutes of Health grants R01-AI32475 and R01-HL080644.

#### References

- Bang, H. and Robins, J. M. (2005). Doubly robust estimation in missing data and causal inference models. *Biometrics* 61, 692–972.
- Brumback, B. A., Hernán, M. A., Haneuse, S. J. P. A., and Robins, J. M. (2004). Sensitivity analyses for unmeasured confounding assuming a marginal structural model for repeated measures. *Statistics in Medicine* 23, 749–767.
- Hernán, M. A. (2005). Invited commentary: Hypothetical interventions to define causal effects: afterthought or prerequisite? *American Journal of Epidemiology* 162, 618–620.
- Hernán, M. A., Brumback, B., and Robins, J. M. (2001). Marginal structural models to estimate the joint causal effect of nonrandomized treatments. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 96, 440–448.
- Hernán, M. A., Brumback B., and Robins, J. M. (2002). Estimating the causal effect of zidovudine on CD4 count with a marginal structural model for repeated measures. *Statistics in Medicine* 21, 1689–1709.
- Hernán, M. A., Hernández-Díaz, S., and Robins, J. M. (2004). A structural approach to selection bias. *Epidemiology* 15, 615–625.
- Hernán, M. A., and Robins, J. M. (2006a). Estimating causal effects from epidemiological data. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 60, 578–586.
- Hernán, M. A., and Robins, J. M. (2006b). Instruments for causal inference: An epidemiologist's dream? *Epidemiology* 17, 360–372.
- Hernán, M. A., Lanoy, E., Costagliola, D., and Robins, J. M. (2006). Comparison of dynamic treatment regimes via inverse probability weighting. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology* 98, 237–242.
- Murphy, S. A. (2003). Optimal dynamic treatment regimes. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B 65, 331–366.
- Murphy, S., van der Laan, M. J., and Robins, J. M. (2001). Marginal mean models for dynamic regimes. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* **96**, 1410–1423.
- Orellana, L., Rotnitzky, A., and Robins, J. M. (2006). Generalized marginal structural models for estimating optimal treatment regimes. Technical Report, Department of Biostatistics, Harvard School of Public Health.
- Page J., Hernán, M. A., and Robins, J. M. (2005). Doubly robust estimation: Structural nested cumulative failure time models, correction of the diagnostic likelihood ratio for verification. Technical Report, Harvard School of Public Health.
- Pearl, J. (1995). Causal diagrams for empirical research. Biometrika 82, 669–710.
- Pearl, J. and Robins, J. M. (1995). Probabilistic evaluation of sequential plans from causal models with hidden variables. Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence, Proceedings of the 11th Conference, pp. 444–453.
- Robins, J. M. (1986). A new approach to causal inference in mortality studies with sustained exposure periods Application to control of the healthy worker survivor effect. Mathematical Modelling 7, 1393–1512. [Errata (1987) in Computers and Mathematics with Applications 14, 917–921. Addendum (1987) in Computers and Mathematics with Applications 14, 923–945. Errata (1987) to addendum in Computers and Mathematics with Applications 18, 477.]
- Robins, J. M. (1993). Analytic methods for estimating HIV treatment and cofactor effects. In D. G. Ostrow and R. Kessler (eds.), *Methodological Issues of AIDS Mental Health Research*, pp. 213–290. New York: Plenum.
- Robins, J. M. (1994). Correcting for non-compliance in randomized trials using structural nested mean models. *Communications in Statistics* 23, 2379–2412.

- Robins, J. M. (1997a). Structural nested failure time models. In P. Armitage and T. Colton (eds.), Encyclopedia of Biostatistics, pp. 4372–4389. Chichester: Wiley.
- Robins, J. M. (1997b). Causal inference from complex longitudinal data. In M. Berkane (ed.), Latent Variable Modeling and Applications to Causality, Lecture Notes in Statistics 120, pp. 69–117. New York: Springer.
- Robins, J. M. (1998). Marginal structural models. In 1997 Proceedings of the Section on Bayesian Statistical Science, pp. 1–10. Alexandria, VA: American Statistical Association.
- Robins, J. M. (1999). Marginal structural models versus structural nested models as tools for causal inference. In M. E. Halloran and D. Berry (eds.), *Statistical Models in Epidemiology: The Environment and Clinical Trials*, pp. 95–134. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Robins, J. M. (2003a). General methodological considerations. *Journal of Econometrics* **112**, 89–106.
- Robins, J. M. (2003b). Semantics of causal DAG models and the identification of direct and indirect effects. In P. Green, N. Hjort, and S. Richardson (eds.), *Highly Structured Stochastic Systems*. Oxford University Press.
- Robins, J. M. (2004). Optimal structural nested models for optimal sequential decisions. In D. Y. Lin and P. Heagerty (eds.), *Proceedings of the Second Seattle Symposium on Biostatistics*. New York: Springer.
- Robins, J. M. and Greenland, S. (2000). Comment on "Causal inference without counterfactuals" by A. P. Dawid. Journal of the American Statistical Association 95, 477–482.
- Robins, J. M., Hernán, M. A., and Brumback, B. (2000). Marginal structural models and causal inference in epidemiology. *Epidemiology* 11, 550–560.
- Robins, J. M., Orellana, L., Hernán, M. A., and Rotnitzky, A. (2008a). Estimation and extrapolation of optimal treatment and testing strategies. *Statistics in Medicine*. To appear.
- Robins, J. M., Rotnitzky, A., and Scharfstein, D. (1999). Sensitivity analysis for selection bias and unmeasured confounding in missing data and causal inference models. In M. E. Halloran and D. Berry (eds.), *Statistical Models in Epidemiology: The Environment and Clinical Trials*, pp. 1–92. New York: Springer.
- Robins, J. M., Sued, M., Lei-Gomez, Q., and Rotnitzky, A. (2008b). Comment: Performance of double-robust estimators when "inverse probability" weight are height variable. *Statistical Science* (in press).
- Robins, J. M., Rotnitzky, A., and Zhao, L.-P. (1995). Analysis of semiparametric regression models for repeated outcomes in the presence of missing data. *Journal of the American Statistical* Association 90, 106–121.
- Robins, J. M. and Wasserman, L. (1997). Estimation of effects of sequential treatments by reparameterizing directed acyclic graphs. In D. Geiger and P. Shenoy (eds.), *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Conference on Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence*, pp. 409–420. San Francisco: Morgan Kaufmann.
- Rosenbaum, P. R. (1984). The consequences of adjustment for a concomitant variable that has been affected by the treatment. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series A* **147**, 656–666.
- Rosenbaum, P. R. and Rubin, D. B. (1983). The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika* **70**, 41–55.
- Scharfstein, D. O., Rotnitzky, A., and Robins, J. M. (1999). Adjusting for non-ignorable drop-out using semiparametric non-response models. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 94, 1096–1120.
- Spirtes, P., Glymour, C., and Scheines, R. (1993). Causation, Prediction, and Search, Lecture Notes in Statistics 81. New York: Springer.
- van der Laan, M. J. (2006). Causal effect models for intention to treat and realistic individualized treatment rules. Working Paper 203, UC Berkeley Division of Biostatistics Working Paper Series. http://www.bepress.com/ucbbiostat/paper203.
- van der Laan, M. J. and Robins, J. M. (2003). Unified Methods for Censored Longitudinal Data and Causality. New York: Springer.

- van der Laan, M. J., Hubbard, A., and Jewell, N. P. (2007). Estimation of treatment effects in randomized trials with non-compliance and a dichotomous outcome. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B* **69**, 463–482.
- van der Laan, M. J., and Petersen, M. L. (2007). Causal effect models for realistic individualized treatment and intention to treat rules. *International Journal of Biostatistics* **3**(1), Article 3.
- Wang, Y., Petersen, M. L., Bangsberg, D., and van der Laan, M. J. (2006). Diagnosing bias in the inverse probability of treatment weighted estimator resulting from violation of experimental treatment assignment. Working Paper 211, UC Berkeley Division of Biostatistics Working Paper Series. http://www.bepress.com/ucbbiostat/paper211.